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Independent Registered Auditor’s Opinion
to the General Shareholders’ Meeting and the Supervisory Board
of KGHM Polska Miedz Spélka Akcyjna

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of KGHM Polska Miedz Spotka Akcyjna
(hereinafter called “the Company”) with its registered office in Lubin, 48 Marii Sklodowskiej-
Curie Street, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2011,
showing total assets and total liabilities and equity of PLN 29.253.189 thousand,
the statement of comprehensive income for the period from 1 January to 31 December 2011,
showing a total comprehensive income of PLN 11.659.034 thousand, the statement
of changes in equity, the statement of cash flows for the financial year and additional
information on adopted accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

The Company’s Management Board is responsible for preparing the financial statements
and the Directors’ Report in accordance with the applicable regulations, and for the correctness
of the accounting records. The Management Board and Members of the Supervisory Board
are required to ensure that the financial statements and the Director’s Report meet
the requirements set out in the Accounting Act of 29 September 1994 (uniform text, Journal
of Laws of 2009, No. 152, item 1223 with further amendments, hereinafter referred
to as “the Act”).

Our responsibility was to perform an audit of the accompanying financial statements
and to express an opinion on whether the financial statements comply in all material respects
with the applicable accounting policies and whether they present fairly, in all material
respects, the Company’s financial position and results, and whether the accounting records
constituting the basis for their preparation are properly maintained.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the following:
a.  the provisions of Chapter 7 of the Act;
b.  national standards of auditing issued by the National Chamber of Registered Auditors.

Our audit was planned and performed to obtain reasonable assurance that the financial
statements were free of material misstatements and omissions. The audit included
examining, on a test basis, accounting documents and entries supporting the amounts and
disclosures inthe financial statements. The audit also included an assessment
of the accounting policies applied by the Company and significant estimates made
in the preparation of the financial statements as well as an evaluation of the overall
presentation thereof. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Sp. z 0.0., Aleja Armii Ludowej 14, 00-638 Warszawa, Polska
Telefon +48 22 523 4000, Faks +48 22 508 4040, www.pwe.pl

PricewaterhouseCoopers Sp. z 0.0. wpisana jest do Krajowego Rejestru Sadowego prowadzonego przez Sad Rejonowy dla m. st. Warszawy, pod numerem KRS 0000044655,
NIP 526-021-02-28. Kapitat zaktadowy wynosi 10.363.900 ztotych. Siedziba Sp6iki jest Warszawa, Al. Armii Ludowej 14.
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Independent Registered Auditor’s Opinion
to the General Shareholders’ Meeting and the Supervisory Board
of KGHM Polska Miedz Spé6lka Akcyjna (cont.)

In our opinion, and in all material respects, the accompanying financial statements:

a. present fairly the Company’s financial position as at 31 December 2011
and of the results of its operations for the year then ended, in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European
Union;

b.  comply in form and content with the applicable laws and the Company’s Memorandum
of Association;

c.  have been prepared on the basis of properly maintained accounting records.

The information in the Directors’ Report for the year ended 31 December 2011 has been
prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Decree of the Minister of Finance dated
19 February 2009 concerning the publication of current and periodic information
by issuers of securities and the conditions of acceptance as equal information required
by the law of other state, which is not a member state (“the Decree” — Journal of Laws
of 2009, No. 33, item 259, with further amendments) and is consistent with the information
presented in the audited financial statements.

Conducting the audit on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers Sp. z o0.0., Registered Audit
Company No. 144:

Marcin Sawicki
Key Registered Auditor
No. 11393

Wroclaw, 27 March 2012 r.

TRANSLATION ONLY
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KGHM Polska Miedz S.A.

Report on the financial statements
as at and for the year ended 31 December 2011
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Report on the financial statements

for the financial year ended 31 December 2011

to the General Shareholders’ Meeting and Supervisory Board
of KGHM Polska Miedz Spélka Akcyjna

This report contains 14 consecutively numbered pages and consists of:

I.  General information about the COMPANY ......cccccervueriiirieriiiieeeeeeeeeeee e
II. Information about the aUdit........cccceevuiiieiiiiiiiieiierecee e e san e
ITI. The Company’s results and financial POSItION .......cccceerrivieiriieiriiieeeieerieecreecee e
IV. Discussion of financial statement COMPONENtS........ccceerriueerriieiriiieenriieerrieenrreeeereesreeeesnees
V. Statements of the independent registered auditor ..........ccceeevueeeeiiieeciieeeciee e,
VI. Final information and COMMENTS..........coceevuerierirnierrienieriententenreere st eeesreeresee s
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KGHM Polska Miedz S.A.
Report on the financial statements
as at and for the year ended 31 December 2011

General information about the Company

a.

KGHM Polska Miedz Spoétka Akcyjna (,The Company”) was founded as a result
of transformation of a state-owned enterprise, Kombinat Goérniczo-Hutniczy Miedzi
on the basis of art. 5 of the Act dated 13 July 1990 concerning the privatisation of state-
owned enterprises (Jurnal of Laws No. 51, item 298, with subsequent amendments).
The Notarial Deed was drawn up on 9 September 1991 at the Notary public’s Office
No. 18 in Warsaw and registered with Rep. no. 8648/91. On 29 June 2001 the District
Court Register decided to enter the Company in the Commercial Register
with the reference number KRS 23302.

The Company has its seat in Lubin, 48 Marii Sktlodowskiej-Curie Street.

In the audited year, the Company operated on the basis of a concession granted
by the Minister of the Environmental Protection, Natural Resources and Forestry.

On 14 June 1993 the Company was assigned a tax identification number
(NIP) 692-000-00-13 for the purpose of making tax settlements and on 13 August 2003
the Company was assigned a REGON number 390021764 for statistical purposes.

As at 31 December 2011 the Company’s registered share capital amounted
to PLN 2.000.000.000 and consisted of 200.000.000 shares, with a nominal value
of PLN 10 per share. As at 31 December 2011 the Company’s equity was positive
and amounted to PLN 23.135.511 thousand.

As at 31 December 2011 the shareholders of the Company were:

Shareholder’s name Number of Par value of Type of Votes
shares held shares held shares (%)

(PLN) held
The Polish State Treasury 63.589.900 635.899.000 ordinary 31,79
Other shareholders 136.410.100 1.364.101.000 ordinary 68,21

200.000.000 2.000.000.000 100,00

In the audited period the Company’s core business was:

metal ore mining,

production of non-ferrous metals, precious metals, and salts,

casting of light metals and non-ferrous metals,

waste management,

wholesale trading on the basis of direct payment or contract,
geological and exploratory activities, research and technical analyses,
professional rescue services.

During the audited year the Management Board of the Company comprised:

= Herbert Wirth President,

= Maciej Tybura I Vice President (Finance),

* Wojciech Kedzia Vice President (Production).
TRANSLATION ONLY
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KGHM Polska Miedz S.A.
Report on the financial statements
as at and for the year ended 31 December 2011

General information about the Company (cont.)

.

The Company has the following related entities:

= the Polish State Treasury (the Company’s parent entity in accordance
with IAS 27) and its subsidiaries,

= entities incorporated into the capital group, in which the Company is the parent
entity together with their associates,

» key members of the Company’s management.

Transactions with related parties were described in note no. 35 to the financial
statement.

The Company is an issuer of securities admitted for trading on the Warsaw Stock
Exchange. In accordance with the choice of selecting accounting policies permitted
by the Accounting Act, from 2007, the Company has decided to prepare its financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
as adopted by the European Union.

As the parent company of the KGHM Polska Miedz S.A. Group, the Company has also
prepared consolidated financial statements according to IFRS as adopted
by the European Union as at 27 March 2012. To better understand the Company’s
financial position and its results of operations as the Parent Company, the financial
statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements.

TRANSLATION ONLY
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KGHM Polska Miedz S.A.
Report on the financial statements
as at and for the year ended 31 December 2011

Information about the audit

a.

The audit of the financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2011 was
conducted by PricewaterhouseCoopers Sp. z o0.0. having its seat in Warsaw, Al. Armii
Ludowe] 14, registered audit company no. 144. The audit was conducted
on behalf of the registered audit company under the supervision of the key registered
auditor Marcin Sawicki (no. 11393).

PricewaterhouseCoopers Sp. z 0.0. was appointed registered auditor to the Company
by Resolution No. 31/VII/10 of the Supervisory Board dated 16 April 2010
in accordance with paragraph 20, point 2 of the Company’s Articles of Association.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Sp. z 0.0. and the key registered auditor conducting the audit are
independent of the audited entity within the meaning of art. 56, clauses2-4
of the Act on registered auditors and their council, entities entitled to provide an audit
of the financial statements and public supervision of 7 May 2009 (Journal of Laws
of 2009, No. 77, item 649, with further amendments).

The audit was performed on the basis of an agreement dated 25 May 2010 and conducted
in the following periods:

= interim audit from 31 October to 18 November 2011;
= final audit from 23 January to 27 March 2012.
TRANSLATION ONLY
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KGHM Polska Miedz S.A.
Report on the financial statements
as at and for the year ended 31 December 2011

The Company’s results and financial position

The financial statements do not take into account the effects of inflation. The consumer price
index (on a December to December basis) amounted to 4.6% in the audited year (3.1% in 2010).

The following comments are based on information obtained during the audit of the financial
statements.

As at the end of the financial year the Company’s total assets amounted to PLN
20.253.189 thousand. During the year total assets increased by PLN 9.423.893 thousand
(i.e. by 47,5%). This increase was financed by net profit (in the value of PLN
11.334.520 thousand), other comprehensive income (in the value of PLN 324.514 thousand),
an increase in current income tax liabilities (by PLN 918.923 thousand), while
the liabilities due to valuation of derivatives were decreased (by PLN 324.765 thousand).
In 2011 the Company paid a dividend of PLN 2.980.000 thousand to its shareholders.

Total revenues amounted to PLN 20.097.392 thousand and increased by 26,0% when
compared to the previous year. The Company’s core activities in the current financial year
consisted of production and sale of copper, precious metals and smelter by-products.
This growth was mainly due to favourable conditions on international and domestic
industrial goods markets during 2011, which were reflected in an increase in sales volume
of copper and copper products. The additional factor for the growth was an increase
of the average price of copper and silver when compared with the prior period (of 16,9%
and 73,9% respectively). In the same period the average exchange rate of US Dollar
decreased by 2,0% when compared to 2010. The revenues include also profit on foreign
currencies’ and commodities’ hedge transactions amounted to PLN 241.565 thousand.

The operating expenses (the total of cost of sales, selling and administrative expenses)
increased by PLN 1.446.153 thousand (15,6%) when compared to 2010. The change was
mainly due to the growth of material and energy costs.

Profitability measured with net profit amounted to 56% and was 27 percentage points
higher than in the previous year. The change in the Company’s profitability was primarily
due to high prices of metals, mainly copper, on international commodity markets during
2011 and sale of shares of Polkomtel S.A.

The Company’s financial ratios and structure of debt has changed. The Company’s debt
ratio amounted to 21% at the end of audited year (27% at the end of the previous year).
The payables turnover amounted to 26 days (25 days in the previous year).

The Company’s liquidity has changed. The current ratio amounted to 4,5 (2,6 in 2010),
whereas the quick ratio amounted to 3,9 (1,9 in 2010).

TRANSLATION ONLY



KGHM Polska Miedz S.A.
Report on the financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2011

IV. Discussion of financial statement components

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION as at 31 December 2011

Note 31.12.2011 31.12.2010 Change Change 31.12.2011 31.12.2010
Structure Structure
PLN’000 PLN’ooo PLN’000 (%) (%) (%)
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 7.277.903 6.551.111 726.792 11,1 24,9 33,0
Intangible assets 150.777 86.718 64.059 73,9 0,5 0,4
Shares and investment certificates in
subsidiaries 1 2.012.209 2.643.046 (630.837) (23,9) 6,9 13,3
Investments in associates 2 - 1.159.947 (1.159.947) (100,0) - 5,9
Deferred tax assets 168.462 359-833 (191.371) (53,2) 0,6 1,8
Available-for-sale financial assets 3 992.068 749.824 242.244 32,3 3,4 3,8
Held-to-maturity investments 111.665 84.115 27.550 32,8 0,4 0,4
Derivatives 4 899.400 403.839 495.561 >100,0 3,0 2,1
Trade and other receivables 84.221 86.608 (2.387) (2,8) 0,3 0,4
11.696.705 12.125.041 (428.336) (3,5) 40,0 61,1
Current assets
Inventories 2.355.741 2.011.393 344.348 17,1 81 10,1
Trade and other receivables 5 1.502.944 2.393.986 (891.042) (37,2) 5,1 12,1
Available-for-sale financial assets 3 - 405.193 (405.193) (100,0) - 2,0
Held-to-maturity investments 2.147 4.129 (1.982) (48,0) - 0,1
Derivatives 4 859.653 294.021 565.632 >100,0 2,9 L5
Cash and cash equivalents 6 12.835.999 2.595-529 10.240.470 >100,0 43,9 13,1
Non-current assets held for sale - 4 (4) (100,0) - -
17.556.484 7.704.255 9.852.229 >100,0 60,0 38,9
Total assets 29.253.189 19.829.296  9.423.893 47,5 100,0 100,0
TRANSLATION ONLY
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KGHM Polska Miedz S.A.

Report on the financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2011

Discussion of financial statement components (cont.)

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION as at 31 December 2011 (cont.)

EQUITY
Share capital
Other accumulated comprehensive income

Retained earnings

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings and financial lease liabilities
Derivatives
Liabilities due to employee benefits

Provisions for other liabilities and charges

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings and financial lease liabilities
Current income tax liabilities
Derivatives
Liabilities due to employee benefits

Provisions for liabilities and other charges

Total liabilities and equity

10

Note

31.12.2011 31.12.2010 Change
PLN’000 PLN’000 PLN’000
2.000.000 2.000.000 -
535.673 211.159 324.514
20.599.838 12.245.318 8.354.520
23.135.511 14.456.477 8.679.034
11.579 14.249 (2.670)
35 8.490 (8.455)
538.320 711.580 (173.260)
1.216.355 1.128.246 88.109
483.657 517.749 (34.092)
2.249.946 2.380.314 (130.368)
1.827.536 1.727.939 99.597
58 2.965 (2.907)
1.587.847 668.924 918.923
330.347 481.852 (151.505)
107.471 93.041 14.430
14.473 17.784 (3.311)
3.867.732 2.992.505 875.227
29.253.189 19.829.296 9.423.893
TRANSLATION ONLY

Change
(%)

>100,0
68,2
60,0

(18,7)
(99,6)
(24,3)
7,8
(6,6)
(5,5)

5,8
(98,0)
>100,0
(31,4)
15,5
(18,6)
29,2

47,5

31.12.2011 31.12.2010
Structure (%)  Structure (%)
6,9 10,0
1,8 1,1
70,4 61,8
79,1 72,9
- 0,1
1,8 3,6
4,2 5,7
1,7 2,6
757 12,0
6,3 8,7
54 34
1,1 2,4
0,4 0,5
- 0,1
13,2 15,1
100,0 100,0
7



KGHM Polska Miedz S.A.
Report on the financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2011

IV. Discussion of financial statement components (cont.)

pwc

Revenues
Cost of sales

Gross profit
Selling costs

Administrative expenses
Other operating income
Other operating expenses

Operating profit

Finance costs

Profit before income tax
Income tax expense

Profit for the period

Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income

Note

1,2,11

11

10, 12

2011 2010 Change
PLN’000 PLN’ooo0 PLN’000
20.097.392 15.945.032 4.152.360
(9.877.794) (8.617.125) (1.260.669)

10.219.598 7.327.907 2.891.691
(111.043) (103.171) (7.872)
(745.002) (567.390) (177.612)
5.092.919 711.202 4.381.717
(768.832) (1.730.400) 961.568
13.687.640 5.638.148 8.049.492
(34.043) (32.581) (1.462)
13.653.597 5.605.567 8.048.030
(2.319.077) (1.036.978) (1.282.099)
11.334.520 4.568.589 6.765.931
324.514 83.931 240.583
11.659.034 4.652.520 7.006.514
TRANSLATION ONLY

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME for the period from 1 January to 31 December 2011

Change
(%)

26,0
14,6
39,5
7,6

31,3
>100,0
(55,6)
>100,0
4,5
>100,0
>100,0
>100,0

>100,0

>100,0

2011 2010
(%) of (%) of
revenues revenues
100,0 100,0
(49,1) (54,0)
50,9 46,0
(0,6) (0,6)
(3,7) (3,6)
25,3 4,5
(3,8) (10,9)
68,1 35,4
(0,2) (0,2)
67,9 35,2
(11,5) (6,5)
56,4 28,7
1,6 0,5
58,0 29,2
8



KGHM Polska Miedz S.A.
Report on the financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2011

IV. Discussion of financial statement components (cont.)
Presentation of the Company’s financial position and results

The following ratios characterize the Company’s activities, results of operations during the audited year and its financial position as at the end
of the reporting period compared with previous years:

pwc

2011r. 2010r. 2009 r.

Asset ratios

- receivables turnover 24 days 29 days 23 days

- inventory turnover 80 days 82 days 84 days
Profitability ratios

- net profitability of sales 56% 29% 23%

- gross margin 68% 35% 28%

- return on capital employed 60% 37% 24%
Liability ratios

- gearing ratio 21% 27% 25%

- payables turnover 26 days 25 days 27 days

31.12.2011r.

31.12.2010r.

31.12.2009 .

Liquidity ratios
- current ratio 4,5 2,6 2.4
- quick ratio 3,9 1,9 1,4
Other ratios
- effective tax rate 17,0% 18,5% 17,2%
TRANSLATION ONLY
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KGHM Polska Miedz S.A.
Report on the financial statements
as at and for the year ended 31 December 2011

IV. Discussion of financial statement components (cont.)

The statement of financial position as at 31 December 2011

1.

pwc

Shares and investment certificates in subsidiaries

In the audited year, the value of shares and investment certificates in subsidiaries
decreased by PLN 630.837 thousand, i.e. by 23,9%, compared to the previous year.
This decrease results mainly from the disposal of the subsidiary Telefonia Dialog S.A.
(at a book value of PLN 824.926 thousand).

Investments in associates

The value of investments in associates decreased due to disposal of shares of Polkomtel S.A.
in the amount of PLN 1.159.947 thousand in 2011.

Available-for-sale financial assets

The value of available-for-sale financial assets (long- and short-term) amounted
to PLN 992.068 thousand at the end of the audited period and decreased
by PLN 162.949 thousand in comparison to 2010. The main reason of change was sale
of the certificates in open-end investments funds (at a book value as at 31 December 2010
of PLN 405.193 thousand) and acquisition of additional shares of Tauron Polska
Energia S.A.

The balance of available-for-sale financial assets as at the end of financial year
consisted mainly of shares of companies listed on stock exchanges in Poland
and Canada.

Derivatives

At the end of the accounting period assets related to valuation of derivatives (long- and short-
term) amounted to PLN 1.759.053 thousand and increased by PLN 1.061.193 thousand
comparing to the previous year.

At the end of the accounting period liabilities related to valuation of derivatives (long-
and short-term) amounted to PLN 868.667 thousand and decreased
by PLN 324.765 thousand comparing to 2010.

Current trade and other receivables

The balance of trade and other receivables decreased by PLN 893.429 thousand
comparing to the previous year and amounted to PLN 1.587.165 thousand
on 31 December 2011. The main reason for the drop was a decrease of the balance
of trade receivables compared to the previous year and termination of deposits
with a maturity over 3 to 12 months, which have been entered in 2010
by the end of 2011.

TRANSLATION ONLY
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KGHM Polska Miedz S.A.
Report on the financial statements
as at and for the year ended 31 December 2011

IV. Discussion of financial statement components (cont.)

6.

10.

pwc

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents contained deposits amounted to PLN 12.811.794 thousand,
interest on deposit amounted to PLN 15.751 thousand and cash on hand and in bank
amounted to PLN 8.454 thousand. The growth by PLN 10.240.470 thousand compared
to the previous year was mainly due to an increase of cash flows from operating
activities and obtaining cash flows from disposal of shares of Polkomtel S.A.
and Telefonia Dialog S.A.

Equity
31.12.2010 Net profit Other Dividend 31.12.2011
for 2011 comprehen- paid
sive income
PLN’000 PLN’000 PLN’000 PLN’000 PLN’000
Share capital 2.000.000 - - - 2.000.000
Other accumulated 2111 ) o4 51 ) 6
comprehensive income 159 324.514 535-673
Retained earnings 12.245.318 11.334.520 - (2.980.000) 20.599.838
Total 14.456.477 11.334.520 324.514 (2.980.000) 23.135.511

In the audited period the amount of share capital did not change.

Share capital — ownership structure

As at 31 December 2011 the only shareholder of the Company holding more than 5%
of share capital was the Polish State Treasury. The State Treasury held 63.589.900
ordinary shares with nominal value of PLN 635.899 thousand, which constituted
31,79% of voting rights at the General Shareholders Meeting.

Retained earnings — profit

The profit for the audited year amounted to PLN 11.334.520 thousand.

In accordance with the Resolution no. 6/2011 of the General Shareholders’ Meeting

dated 15 June 2011, the profit for the previous year of PLN 4.568.589 thousand was
appropriated as follows:

- PLN 2.980.000 thousand paid as dividend to shareholders,
- PLN 1.588.589 thousand transferred to supplementary capital (retained
earnings).

Current income tax liabilities

As at the end of the reporting period the balance of current income tax liabilities
amounted to PLN 1.587.847 thousand and increased by PLN 918.923 thousand when
compared with the previous accounting period. The increase was mainly due
to significantly higher taxable profit obtained by the Company in 2011.

TRANSLATION ONLY
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KGHM Polska Miedz S.A.
Report on the financial statements
as at and for the year ended 31 December 2011

Discussion of financial statement components (cont.)

Statement of comprehensive income for the period from 1 January
to 31 December 2011

11.

12.

Other operating income and expenses

The profit on other operating activities for the audited period amounted
to PLN 4.324.087 thousand and increased by PLN 5.343.285 thousand when compared
with previous year’s loss, mainly due to profit from disposal of investment in subsidiary
and associate in the amount of PLN 2.662.245 thousand, recognition of result
on settlement and valuation of derivatives in the amount of PLN 320.919 thousand
(in the previous year in the amount of PLN (1.172.284) thousand) and obtaining foreign
exchange gains amounted to PLN 895.164 thousand (in the previous year foreign
exchange losses in the amount of PLN 30.445 thousand).

Income tax
The amount of deferred and current income tax for the audited period equaled

to PLN 2.319.077 thousand and increased by PLN 1.282.099 thousand comparing
to 2010 due to significantly higher taxable profit obtained by the Company in 2011.

TRANSLATION ONLY
12



pwc

KGHM Polska Miedz S.A.
Report on the financial statements
as at and for the year ended 31 December 2011

Statements of the independent registered auditor

a.

The Management Board of the Company provided all the information, explanations,
and representations required by us in the course of the audit and provided us
with a representation letter confirming the completeness of the information included
in the accounting records and the disclosure of all contingent liabilities and subsequent
events which occurred up to the date on which that letter was signed.

The scope of the audit was not limited.

The Company has up-to-date documentation of its accounting policies, approved
by the Management Board. The Company’s accounting policies were tailored to its
needs and ensured the recognition of all events with a material effect on the assessment
of its financial position and results, taking into consideration the prudence principle.
There were no changes to the accounting policies compared with the previous year.

The closing balances as at the end of the previous year were correctly brought forward
as the opening balances of the current financial year in all material respects.

The counts of assets and liabilities were carried out and reconciled in accordance
with the Accounting Act, and the results were included in the accounting records
for the audited year.

The financial statements of the Company for the period from 1 January to 31 December 2010
were approved by Resolution No. 5/2011 passed by the General Shareholders’ Meeting
on 15 June 2011, filed with the National Court Register in Wroctaw on 20 June 2011 and
published in Monitor Polski B No. 2421 on 14 December 2011.

The financial statements for the previous financial year were audited
by PricewaterhouseCoopers Sp. z 0.0. The registered auditor issued an unqualified
opinion.

We have assessed the operation of the accounting system. Our assessment covered

in particular:

- the accuracy of the documentation relating to business transactions;

- the fairness, accuracy and verifiability of the books of account, including
computerized books of account;

- the methods used for controlling access to data and the computerized data
processing system;

- the safeguarding of the accounting documentation, books of account, and financial
statements.

This assessment, together with our verification of individual items of the financial

statements, provides the basis for expressing a general and comprehensive opinion

on these financial statements. The audit was not intended to provide a comprehensive

opinion on the operations of the said system.

The notes to the financial statements present all significant information required
by IFRS as adopted by the European Union.

The information in the Directors’ Report for the year ended 31 December 2011 has been
prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Decree of the Minister of Finance
dated 19 February 2009 concerning the publication of current and periodic information
by issuers of securities and the conditions of acceptance as equal information required
by the law of other state, which is not a member state (Journal of Laws of 2009, No. 33,
item 259, as amended) and consistent with that presented in the financial statements.
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KGHM Polska Miedz S.A.
Report on the financial statements
as at and for the year ended 31 December 2011

Final information and comments

This report has been prepared in connection with our audit of the financial statements
of KGHM Polska MiedZz Spotka Akcyjna, 48 Marii Sklodowskiej-Curie Street, Lubin.
The financial statements were signed by the Company’s Management Board and the person
entrusted with maintaining the books of account on 27 March 2012.

This report should be read in conjunction with the Independent Registered Auditor’s
unqualified Opinion to the General Shareholders’ Meeting and the Supervisory Board
of KGHM Polska Miedz Spotka Akcyjna dated 27 March 2012, concerning the said financial
statements. The opinion on the financial statements expresses a general conclusion drawn
from the audit and involves assessing the materiality of individual audit findings rather than
being a sum of all the evaluations of individual financial statement components.
This assessment takes account of the impact of the facts noted on the truth and fairness
of the financial statements as a whole.

Conducting the audit on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers Sp. z 0.0., Registered Audit
Company No. 144:

Marcin Sawicki

Key Registered Auditor
No. 11393

Wroclaw, 27 March 2012
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DECLARATION BY THE MANAGEMENT BOARD ON THE ACCURACY OF THE PREPARED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

According to our best judgement the annual financial statements and the comparative data have
been prepared in accordance with accounting principles currently in force, and give a true, fair
and clear view of the financial position of KGHM Polska Miedz S.A. and the profit for the period
of the Company. The annual report on the Company’s activities presents a true picture
of the development and achievements, as well as the condition, of KGHM Polska Miedz S.A.,
including a description of the basic exposures and risks.

SIGNATURES OF ALL MEMBERS OF THE MANAGEMENT BOARD

Date First, Last name Position/Function Signature

President

27 March 2012 Herbert Wirth
of the Management Board

I Vice President

27 March 2012 Maciej Tybura
of the Management Board

Vice President

27 March 2012 Wojciech Kedzia
of the Management Board

SIGNATURE OF PERSON RESPONSIBLE FOR ACCOUNTING

Date First, Last name Position/Function Signature

Chief Accountant of KGHM
27 March 2012 Ludmita Mordylak Executive Director of
Accounting Services Center

Translation from the original Polish version
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STATEMENTS
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DECLARATION BY THE MANAGEMENT BOARD REGARDING THE ENTITY ENTITLED
TO AUDIT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The entity entitled to audit financial statements, and which has audited the annual financial
statements, was selected in compliance with legal provisions. This entity, as well as the certified
auditors who have carried out this audit, have met the conditions for issuing an impartial
and independent audit opinion, in compliance with appropriate legal provisions and professional
standards.

SIGNATURES OF ALL MEMBERS OF THE MANAGEMENT BOARD

Date First, Last name Position/Function Signature

President

27 March 2012 Herbert Wirth
of the Management Board

I Vice President

27 March 2012 Maciej Tybura
of the Management Board

Vice President

27 March 2012 Wojciech Kedzia
of the Management Board

SIGNATURE OF PERSON RESPONSIBLE FOR ACCOUNTING

Date First, Last name Position/Function Signature

Chief Accountant of KGHM
27 March 2012 Ludmita Mordylak Executive Director of
Accounting Services Center

Translation from the original Polish version
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Dear Shareholders!

The year 2011 will undoubtedly go down in history as a uniquely vital chapter in the chronicle
of KGHM Polska Miedz S.A. This was due to numerous momentous events. The most
important of these was start of the successfully-completed friendly purchase of the Canadian
mining company Quadra FNX  Mining Ltd, the successful divestiture
from the telecommunications sector and the commencement of the smelting investment
program. There were also numerous events and distinctions in the area of corporate social
responsibility and events related to the celebration of KGHM's Golden Jubilee, i.e. its 50"
anniversary. The slogan for the jubilee — Polish Copper, more valuable than gold — was
perfectly confirmed by the record results for 2011.

KGHM achieved a profit for the period of PLN 11.3 billion, meaning an increase versus
the prior year by PLN 6.8 billion and the greatest result in the Company's history. The result
was substantially impacted by the conclusion in the fourth quarter of 2011 of the sale
of the telecom assets. The pre-tax profit on the sale of Polkomtel S.A. and Dialog S.A
amounted to PLN 2.7 billion. For the full year 2011, KGHM also recorded a positive result
on hedging transactions, which amounted to PLN 562.5 million.

Electrolytic copper production versus 2010 was higher by 24 thousand tonnes, (an increase
of 4.4%) and reached the highest level in the Company's history, i.e. 571 thousand tonnes.
The increase in production was due to the higher processing of own concentrate and to the
participation of purchased copper-bearing materials in the form of scrap, copper blister and
imported concentrate. Last year, KGHM also produced 1 260 tonnes of silver, i.e. by 99
tonnes more (an increase of 8.5%) than in 2010.

At the beginning of December 2011, we submitted a binding offer for the purchase of all
of the shares of the Canadian mining company Quadra FNX. The shareholders of this
company, by more than the required number of votes cast, in February 2012, voted in favour
of acceptance of our offer, which enabled finalisation of the transaction. The per-share price
paid was CAD 15, while the total transaction value, which KGHM financed from its own
funds, amounted to CAD 2.9 billion, i.e. PLN 9.1 billion. Based on the recommendations
of independent analysts as to the valuation of the shares of Quadra FNX during the period
prior to the announcement of the transaction, i.e. in December of last year, it appears that the
price paid by KGHM for the Canadian company's shares was 20 percent lower than market
consensus. Following the transaction the name of the Canadian company was changed to
KGHM International. Already in 2012 KGHM's production will be increased by almost 100
thousand tonnes of copper.

The KGHM Group now owns a diversified portfolio of assets in countries of low—investment
risk as well as a portfolio of projects ensuring growth of the production base. This includes
9 mines in Poland, Canada, the USA and Chile, and 5 projects at the investment and pre-
investment stage: Sierra Gorda in Chile, Glogéw Gieboki Przemystowy in Poland, Afton-Ajax
and Victoria in Canada and Malmbjerg in Greenland. Also included are exploration projects
in Weisswasser in Germany, Wartowice, Szklary and Gaworzyce-Radwanice in Poland
and Kirkwood, Falconbridge, Footwall and Foy in Canada.

The funds for the transaction arose among others from the transaction concluded
in November for the sale of the assets held by KGHM in Polkomtel SA and the finalisation
in December 2011 of the sale of Dialog SA. KGHM is consistently realising its strategy
of concentrating on its core business, assuming diversification in terms of geography
and producing assets. That aspect of the strategy assuming the engagement by KGHM
in the energy sector remains in force, including recently in the field of shale gas.

One of the most important programs undertaken last year is the program of investment
at the Gtogobw smelter. The modernisation of pyrometallurgy, replacement of the sulphuric
acid plant, and construction of a fourth Dorschel furnace were the most important projects.
These investments involve not only the process of production, but also have an impact



on environmental protection, safety and working conditions. 10 large projects valued at over
PLN 2 billion are being realised at the Glogéw smelter.

We are continuing exploration programs in the region of the OIld Copper Belt
and in the Saxon region of Weisswasser in Germany. The materials obtained
from the preliminary drillings are encouraging for further testing.

The process was begun of renewing licenses for the extraction of copper ore
from the deposits located in the mining regions of the Copper Belt. Ministerial agreement
for KGHM Polska Miedz S.A. will mean the possibility of continuing the Company's activities
for another 50 years.

The year 2011 brought KGHM a variety of distinctions documenting its significant role
in the Polish economy, and underscoring the Company's corporate social responsibility.

KGHM's receipt of the special "Index of Success" award for most-effective company
in Central-Eastern Europe was due among others to the high evaluation of the activities
of the Management Board aimed at reducing costs and improving efficiency. In addition,
the award committee for the Index of Success appreciated the actions undertaken by KGHM
in areas such as environmental protection, the sponsoring of cultural activities and sport,
charitable activities and the support of local society.

KGHM was awarded first place in the ranking Pearls of the Polish Economy. The Company
was honoured in the category producers and service providers. KGHM was also a winner
inthe category Great Pearls. This ranking comprised the largest companies, those
with revenues of at least one billion Polish zloties.

Of particular importance for the Company is the title ,One who is changing Polish industry”.
This award was granted for effective management of a major business structure
and for clearly-described goals, their consistent realisation, and also for matching them
to the long-term growth prospects of the Company. The award committee recognised
that KGHM took advantage of the propitious moment in the copper cycle to expand
internationally and to realise its plans to create a global copper company through the plan
to purchase Quadra FNX in Canada. The award committee also recognised that these plans
offered KGHM a new opportunity for growth and the chance to effectively compete with
the global leaders in the resources sector.

KGHM again found itself amongst the finalists of the competition Leaders of Philanthropy
organised by the Donors Forum, winning second place. KGHM also received a Special
Award for ,Consistent Engagement in the Competition and Development of Corporate
Philanthropy in Poland”. Confirmation of the achievements of KGHM in the field of corporate
social responsibility is its permanent place amongst the companies of the Respect Index
on the Warsaw Stock Exchange.

Dear Shareholders, KGHM Polska Miedz S.A. has truly become a global company. The

Company has gained a historic opportunity to make a quantum leap in its development and
in its long-term value. | ensure you that we will take full advantage of this opportunity.

Herbert Wirth

President of the Management Board

Lubin, 27 March 2012
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KGHM Polska Miedz S.A.
Annual financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS
as adopted by the European Union
for the period from 1 January 2011 to 31 December 2011
(amounts in tables in thousand PLN, unless otherwise stated)
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KGHM Polska Miedz S.A.
Annual financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS

as adopted by the European Union

for the period from 1 January 2011 to 31 December 2011
(amounts in tables in thousand PLN, unless otherwise stated)

Statement of financial position

Assets

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

Shares and investment certificates in subsidiaries
Investments in associates
Deferred tax assets
Available-for-sale financial assets
Held-to-maturity investments
Derivatives

Trade and other receivables

Current assets

Inventories

Trade and other receivables
Available-for-sale financial assets
Held-to-maturity investments
Derivatives

Cash and cash equivalents
Non-current assets held for sale

Total assets

Equity and liabilities

Equity

Share capital

Accumulated other comprehensive income
Retained earnings

Total equity

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Trade and other payables

Borrowings and finance lease liabilities
Derivatives

Employee benefits liabilities

Provisions for other liabilities and charges

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables

Borrowings and finance lease liabilities
Current corporate tax liabilities
Derivatives

Employee benefits liabilities

Provisions for other liabilities and charges

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

At

Note 31 December 2011 31 December 2010

NN O W»;

O

10
11

12
11

10
13
14

15
16
17

18
19
10
21
22

18
19

10
21
22

7 277 903 6551 111
150 777 86 718

2 012 209 2 643 046

- 1159 947

168 462 359 833
992 068 749 824

111 665 84 115
899 400 403 839

84 221 86 608

11 696 705 12 125 041
2 355 741 2011 393

1 502 944 2393 986

- 405 193

2 147 4129

859 653 294 021

12 835 999 2 595 529
- 4

17 556 484 7 704 255
29 253 189 19 829 296
2 000 000 2 000 000
535 673 211 159

20 599 838 12 245 318
23 135 511 14 456 477
11 579 14 249

35 8 490

538 320 711 580
1216 355 1128 246
483 657 517 749

2 249 946 2 380 314
1827 536 1727 939
58 2 965

1 587 847 668 924
330 347 481 852
107 471 93 041

14 473 17 784

3 867 732 2 992 505
6117 678 5 372 819
29 253 189 19 829 296

The accounting policies and other explanatory information presented on pages 7 to 103 represent an integral part of these financial statements

Translation from the original Polish version
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KGHM Polska Miedz S.A.
Annual financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS
as adopted by the European Union
for the period from 1 January 2011 to 31 December 2011
(amounts in tables in thousand PLN, unless otherwise stated)

Statement of comprehensive income

Note

Sales 23
Cost of sales 24
Gross profit

Selling costs 24
Administrative expenses 24
Other operating income 26
Other operating costs 27
Operating profit

Finance costs 28
Profit before income tax

Income tax expense 31

Profit for the period

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME DUE TO:
Available-for-sale financial assets
Cash flow hedging instruments

Income tax related to items presented in other
comprehensive income

Other comprehensive net income for the
financial period

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Earnings per share for the annual period

(in PLN per share) 32

- basic

- diluted

For the period

from 1 January 2011 from 1 January 2010
to 31 December 2011 to 31 December 2010

20 097 392 15 945 032
(9 877 794) (8 617 125)
10 219 598 7 327 907
(111 043) (103 171)
(745 002) (567 390)
5092 919 711 202
(768 832) (1 730 400)
13 687 640 5 638 148
(34 043) (32 581)

13 653 597 5 605 567
(2 319 077) (1 036 978)
11 334 520 4 568 589
(197 525) 148 019
598 160 (44 401)

(76 121) (19 687)
324 514 83 931

11 659 034 4 652 520
56.67 22.84

56.67 22.84

The accounting policies and other explanatory information presented on pages 7 to 103 represent an integral part of these financial statements

Translation from the original Polish version
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Statement of changes in equity

At 1 January 2011

Dividends for 2010 resolved and
paid

Total comprehensive income
Profit for the period
Other comprehensive income

At 31 December 2011

At 1 January 2010

Dividends for 2009 resolved and
paid

Total comprehensive income
Profit for the period
Other comprehensive income

At 31 December 2010

KGHM Polska Miedz S.A.
Annual financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS
as adopted by the European Union

for the period from 1 January 2011 to 31 December 2011
(amounts in tables in thousand PLN, unless otherwise stated)

Accumulated other
comprehensive income

due to:
Available- Cash flow .
Note Sha!re for-sale hedging Reta!ned Tot-al
capital financial instruments €arnings equity
assets

2 000 000 121 385 89774 12245318 14456 477
33 - - - (2980 000) (2980 000)
- (159 995) 484509 11334520 11659034
17 - - - 11 334 520 11 334 520
16 - (159 995) 484 509 - 324 514
2 000 000 (38 610) 574 283 20599838 23135511
2 000 000 1489 125 739 8 276 729 10 403 957
- - - (600 000) (600 000)
- 119 896 (35 965) 4 568 589 4 652 520
17 - - - 4 568 589 4 568 589
16 - 119 896 (35 965) - 83 931
2 000 000 121 385 89774 12245318 14 456 477

The accounting policies and other explanatory information presented on pages 7 to 103 represent an integral part of these financial statements

Translation from the original Polish version
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Statement of cash flows

KGHM Polska Miedz S.A.

as adopted by the European Union

for the period from 1 January 2011 to 31 December 2011
(amounts in tables in thousand PLN, unless otherwise stated)

Annual financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS

For the period

from 1 January 2011 from 1 January 2010

Note to 31 December 2011 to 31 December 2010

Cash flow from operating activities
Profit for the period 17 11 334 520 4 568 589
Adjustments to profit for the period 34 (1 281 495) 1 436 897
Income tax paid (1 284 903) (658 695)
Net cash generated from operating activities 8 768 122 5 346 791
Cash flow from investing activities
Purchase of shares and investment certificates in subsidiaries (201 440) (731 224)
Proceeds from sale and liquidation of shares in subsidiaries 981 874 1534
Proceeds from sale of shares in an associate 3672 147 -
Purchase of available-for-sale financial assets (1 565 831) (1296 141)
Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale financial assets 1548 193 310 994
zggg?sase of property, plant and equipment and intangible (1 406 454) (1 156 709)
Eatipment and intangible assets " P ane (59 374) (65 329)
&r&cne;gfef;(;?efsale of property, plant and equipment and 34 6 280 4717
II—?:Sré:IJfcseesooffhp(:ilgét?:;(l;r;itrtérisznigvestments financed from the (25 568) (20 567)
Establishment of deposits (450 000) (350 000)
Termination of deposits 800 000 -
Loans granted - (40 000)
Repayments of loans granted 5030 71 162
Interest received 11 543 4 932
Dividends received 277 330 146 658
Other investment expenses (3 988) (5 273)
Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities 3 589 742 (3 125 246)
Cash flow from financing activities
Repayments of loans - (3 000)
Payments of finance leases liabilities (13 009) (3 118)
Interest paid (11) (76)
Dividends paid 17 (2 980 000) (600 000)
Net cash used in financing activities (2993 020) (606 194)
Total net cash flow 9 364 844 1 615 351
Exchange gains on cash and cash equivalents 875 626 4 980
Movements in cash and cash equivalents 10 240 470 1 620 331
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period 13 2 595 529 975 198
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period 13 12 835 999 2 595 529

including restricted cash and cash equivalents 3036 1751

The accounting policies and other explanatory information presented on pages 7 to 103 represent an integral part of these financial statements
Translation from the original Polish version 6/157



KGHM Polska Miedz S.A.
Annual financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS
as adopted by the European Union
for the period from 1 January 2011 to 31 December 2011
(amounts in tables in thousand PLN, unless otherwise stated)

Accounting policies and other explanatory information

1. General information

Company name, registered office, business activities

KGHM Polska Miedz S.A. (the “Company”) with its registered office in Lubin at 48 M.Sktlodowskiej-Curie
Street is a stock company registered at the Wroctaw Fabryczna Regional Court, Section IX (Economic)
in the National Court Register, entry no. KRS 23302, operating on the territory of the Republic of Poland.
The Company was assigned a tax identification number (NIP) 692-000-00-13 and a statistical REGON
number 390021764. KGHM Polska Miedz S.A. has a multi-divisional organisational structure,
which comprises its Head Office and 10 divisions: 3 mines (Lubin Mine, Polkowice-Sieroszowice Mine,
Rudna Mine), 3 smelters (Glogdw Smelter, Legnica Smelter, the Cedynia Wire Rod Plant), the Ore
Enrichment Plant (OEP), the Tailings Plant, the Mine-Smelter Emergency Rescue Unit and the Data Center.
The shares of KGHM Polska Miedz S.A. are listed on the Warsaw Stock Exchange.

According to the classification of the Warsaw Stock Exchange, KGHM Polska Miedz S.A. is classified
under the "basic materials” sector.

The principal activities of the Company comprise:

mining of copper and non-ferrous metals ore,

excavation of gravel and sand,

production of copper, precious and non-ferrous metals,

production of salt,

casting of light and non-ferrous metals,

forging, pressing, stamping and roll forming of metal - powder metallurgy,
waste management,

wholesale based on direct or contractual payments,

warehousing and storage of goods,

holding management activities,

geological and exploratory activities,

general construction activities with respect to mining and production facilities,
generation and distribution of electricity, steam and hot water, production of gas and distribution
of gaseous fuels through a supply network,

= scheduled and non-scheduled air transport, and

= telecommunication and IT activities.

Activities involving the exploitation of copper ore, salt deposits and common minerals are carried out based
on licenses held by KGHM Polska Miedz S.A., which were issued by the Minister of Environmental
Protection, Natural Resources and Forestry in the years 1993-2004, most of which expire on 31 December
2013. KGHM Polska Miedz S.A. is at the stage of obtaining licenses for subsequent years. In the opinion
of the Management Board, the licensing process, which occurs periodically, is of an administrative nature,
while the probability of not obtaining a license is, in the opinion of the Management Board, minimal.

Period of operation

KGHM Polska Miedz S.A. has been conducting its business since 12 September 1991. The Company has
an unlimited period of operation.

The legal antecedent of KGHM Polska MiedZz S.A. was the State-owned enterprise Kombinat Goérniczo-
Hutniczy Miedzi in Lubin transformed into a State-owned joint stock company in accordance with principles
set forth in the law dated 13 July 1990 on the privatisation of State-owned enterprises.

Management Board

From 1 January to 31 December 2011, the Management Board consisted of (including segregation
of duties):

- Herbert Wirth President of the Management Board,
- Maciej Tybura I Vice President of the Management Board (Finance),
- Wojciech Kedzia Vice President of the Management Board (Production).

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements for issue, the composition of the Management
Board of KGHM Polska Miedz S.A. had not changed.

Translation from the original Polish version 7/157



KGHM Polska Miedz S.A.
Annual financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS
as adopted by the European Union
for the period from 1 January 2011 to 31 December 2011
(amounts in tables in thousand PLN, unless otherwise stated)

1. General information (continued)

Authorisation of the annual financial statements (financial statements)

These financial statements were authorised for issue and signed by the Management Board of the Company
on 27 March 2012.

Going concern

The financial statements were prepared under the assumption that the Company will continue as a going
concern during a period of at least 12 months from the end of the reporting period in an unaltered
form and business scope, and there are no reasons to suspect any intentional or forced discontinuation
or significant limitation of its current activities. At the date of signing of the annual financial statements
the Management Board of the Company is not aware of any facts or circumstances that may cast doubt about
the going concern in the foreseeable future.

In order to fully understand the financial position and the results of the activities of KGHM Polska Miedz S.A.
as the parent entity of the Group, these financial statements should be read jointly with the annual consolidated
financial statements for the period ended 31 December 2011. These financial statements will be available
on the website of the Company www.kghm.pl on dates consistent with the current report concerning dates
of publication of the annual report of the Company and the consolidated annual report of the Group for 2011.

Seasonal or cyclical activities

The Company is not affected by seasonal or cyclical activities.

2. Main accounting policies

2.1. Basis of preparing financial statements

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
as adopted by the European Union, using the same principles for the current and comparable periods.

These financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis (adjusted for the effects
of hyperinflation in respect of property, plant and equipment and equity), except for available-for-sale financial
assets and derivatives measured at fair value.

The carrying amount of recognised hedged assets and liabilities is adjusted for the changes in fair value
attributable to the hedged risk.

Since 1 January 2011 the following standards and interpretations applied by the Company have been
in force

o Amendment to IAS 32 Financial instruments: Presentation, Classifications of rights issues

Amended IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of IFRS, Limited Exemption from Comparative IFRS 7 Disclosures
for First-time Adopters,

IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments,

Amended IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures and changes to IFRS 8 Operating Segments,

Amendments to IFRIC 14 Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement ,

Amendments to International Financial Reporting Standards 2010.

o

O o0 oo

All of the above changes to the standards and interpretations have been adopted by the European Union up
to the date of publication of these financial statements.

The Company, based on the updated IAS 24, made use of the exemptions provided for in paragraph 25,
and presents information on transactions between KGHM Polska MiedZ S.A. and the government (the Republic
of Poland) and with entities controlled or jointly controlled by the government, or over which the government
has significant influence, pursuant to the requirements set forth in paragraph of 27 IAS 24.

Besides, the Company estimates that application of the above-mentioned standards did not affect significantly
its financial statements.

Up to the date of publication of these financial statements, further standards and interpretations have been

published by the International Accounting Standards Board which as at this date have not come into force,
while some of them have been adopted for use by the European Union.
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Annual financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS
as adopted by the European Union
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2. Main accounting policies (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparing financial statements (continued)

Standards and interpretations which are not in force but have been adopted for use by the European
Union:

Amendments to IFRS 7 Disclosures - Transfers of Financial Assets

On 7 October 2010, the International Accounting Standards Board issued Disclosures - Transfers of Financial
Assets - Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures. The amendments issued enhance existing
disclosure requirements. The purpose of the amendments is to increase the transparency of information
on risks involving transactions in which financial assets were transferred.

Not every transferral of financial assets by an entity to a third party results in its simultaneous, total or partial
derecognition from the financial statements. This occurs when an entity transferring assets does not
simultaneously transfer contractual rights to receive cash flows associated with these assets, retaining
substantially all of the risks and rewards of their ownership, or continues to be involved in derecognised
financial assets at the reporting date. The amendment to IFRS 7 expands the scope of required disclosures
by information regarding transferred financial assets which were not entirely derecognised from the financial
statements. The additional disclosures encompass the nature and carrying amount of the assets transferred
and the risks and rewards associated with them.

For assets transferred, in which an entity continues to be involved, the amended IFRS 7 requires the disclosure
of information enabling the evaluation of the nature of the involvement and of the risks associated
with the continuing involvement o of the entity, by each class of continuing involvement, including in particular
the carrying amount and fair value of financial assets and liabilities representing the continued involvement of
the entity in the derecognised financial assets.

Until now, the only type of financial assets transferred by the Company whose transferral did not qualify
for derecognition from the financial statements involved the disposal of Company debtors with respect
to recourse factoring. Should there occur such transactions or others which will involve the aforesaid
amendments to IFRS 7, the Company will provide disclosures in the financial statements pursuant to the new
requirements.

Amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011.

Standards and interpretations which are not in force and have not been adopted by the European
Union up to the date of publication of these financial statements

IFRS for Small and Medium-sized Entities

On 9 July 2009, the International Accounting Standards Board issued a standard for Small and Medium-sized
Entities (SMEs). This Standard deals with principles and problems of significance for SMEs, simplifying
requirements and reducing the scope of disclosures required in the full version of the Standards. Its
requirements have been adapted to the needs and capabilities of SMEs.

This Standard does not refer to financial statements of the Company.

IFRS 9 Financial instruments

On 12 November 2009 the International Accounting Standards Board published IFRS 9 Financial instruments.
This standard is the result of the initial stage of work by the Board aimed at withdrawal of IAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and replacement by a new one, IFRS 9. This standard essentially
simplifies the principles for classifying financial assets, introducing only two categories: assets measured at fair
value, and assets measured at amortised cost. This classification, at the initial recognition, should result from
the business model adopted by the entity for managing the assets and from the contractual cash flows
appropriate for the given asset. This standard also provides guidance with respect to the measurement
of financial assets, their reclassification and the recognition of profits and losses arising from these assets. This
standard becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015 and will affect the financial
statements of the Company, in particular with respect to presentation. Potential changes in value which could
impact the financial statements of the Company could arise due to changes in the measurement of equity
instruments, which due to the lack of an active market are measured at cost less any impairment. It is however
expected that the changes will not have a significant impact on the financial statements of the Company.

On 28 October 2010, the International Accounting Standards Board reissued IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.
This reissue is the result of the conclusion of a further phase of the Board's work aimed at replacing IAS 39
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. To IFRS 9 the Board added requirements regarding
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Annual financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS
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2. Main accounting policies (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparing financial statements (continued)

the classification and measurement of financial liabilities, the majority of which were transferred to the new
standard directly from IAS 39.

Under IFRS 9, liabilities representing derivatives which are related to and settled through the delivery
of an unquoted equity instrument are measured at fair value, as in the case of investments in unquoted equity
instruments and derivative financial assets related to these investments.

In addition, the standard introduces the requirement to recognise changes in the fair value of financial liabilities
measured at fair value through profit or loss resulting from changes in credit risk related to these liabilities,
in other comprehensive income. The remaining amount of change in the fair value of liabilities is presented
in profit or loss, unless recognition of the affects of these changes in the credit risk of these liabilities would
create or enlarge an accounting mismatch; in such a case the entity would recognise the full amount
of the change in the fair value in profit or loss.

This standard will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015, and will affect

the Company's financial statements, in particular with regard to presentation, although it is estimated that
the impact will be immaterial.

Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of IFRS

On 20 December 2010, the International Accounting Standards Board issued an amendment called Severe
Hyperinflation and Removal of Fixed Dates for First-time Adopters of IFRS, as an amendment to IFRS 1 First-
time Adoption of IFRS.

Changes to this standard are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011 and will not have
an effect on the financial statements of the Company.

Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes

On 20 December 2010, the International Accounting Standards Board issued an amendment to IAS 12 called
Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets. The purpose of this update is to provide practical guidance
in the estimation of the amount of deferred income tax in a situation where investment property is measured
through the use of the fair value model from IAS 40 Investment Property. In accordance with IAS 12,
the measurement of deferred income tax assets and liabilities, i.e. the determination of an income tax rate
and the taxable base, depends on the manner in which an entity intends to recover (realise) the value
of the assets. In certain tax jurisdictions a different income tax rate is applied to income from the disposal of
property than is applied to income received from the use of such property. Sometimes therefore, entities
cannot be certain as to the manner in which the value of a given asset will be eventually recovered (realised) in
the future. In such a situation the aforementioned amendment to IAS 12 recommends that the entity should
assume that it will recover (realise) the value of the asset through its sale. This same principle should be
applied by entities owning non-depreciable and revalued assets covered by IAS 16.

Changes to this standard are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012 and will not
have an effect on the financial statements of the Company, due to the unified tax rate applied in Poland
to income obtained by corporations.

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

On 12 May 2011, the International Accounting Standards Board published IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial
Statements. The new standard supersedes SIC 12 Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities and IAS 27
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements with regard to consolidated financial statements.

The purpose of introducing the new standard was primarily to unify definitions of control, which due
to inconsistencies between IAS 27 and SIC 12 led to various interpretations by economic entities.

IFRS 10 establishes a revised concept of control as being the deciding factor in whether to include an entity
in consolidated financial statements, comprising three elements:

- power over the investee,

- exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and

- the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor's returns.

This standard will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013, and will have an effect
on the financial statements of the Company in terms of deciding whether or not to exercise control.
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2. Main accounting policies (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparing financial statements (continued)

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements

On 12 May 2011, the International Accounting Standards Board published IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements. The new
standard supersedes IAS 31 Interests In Joint Ventures and SIC 13 Jointly Controlled Entities - Non-Monetary
Contributions by Venturers.

IFRS 11 describes two types of joint arrangements: joint operations and joint ventures. The classification
of a joint arrangement as a joint operation or a joint venture depends upon the rights and obligations
of the parties to the arrangement. The standard eliminates incoherence by eliminating proportional consolidation
as a method for recognising a joint venture, allowing solely for the valuation of assets in a jointly-controlled
entity by the joint operator using the equity method.

This standard will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013, and will not have
an effect on the financial statements of the Company.

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

On 12 May 2011, the International Accounting Standards Board published IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests
in Other Entities. This standard will be applicable to entities having interests in subsidiaries, joint ventures,
associates or unconsolidated structured entities.

The new standard combines the disclosure requirements regarding interests in other entities which are currently
described in IAS 27, IAS 28 and IAS 31, introducing coherence and completeness in disclosures, and also
expanding their scope. The purpose of introducing the changes was to ensure that users of financial statements
have a better opportunity to evaluate the nature of, and risks associated with, the interests of a given entity
in other entities, and to understand the effects of those interests on the investor's financial position, profit or loss
and cash flows. The standard sets forth the minimum scope of disclosures which the investor can expand, if it is
felt that additional disclosures are required to meet the purposes of the standard. In addition, the investor may
decide as to the level of aggregation and disaggregation of disclosed information and may select those areas
which the investor wishes to emphasise in its disclosures.

This standard will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. IFRS 12 does not address
those financial statements for which entities will apply the amended IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements, and
as a result the standard will not affect the Company's financial statements.

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

On 12 May 2011, the International Accounting Standards Board published IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement. This
standard is the result of the process carried out by the IASB, introducing unified accounting standards in terms
of international and American standards.

IFRS 13 introduces a new definition of fair value, unified conceptual assumptions and amended disclosure
requirements with respect to fair value measurements, without expanding the scope of fair value measurements.
The new requirements are to be applied to those standards (with certain exceptions), which at present require
or allow for the measurement of assets and liabilities to fair value, in respect of which the current guidelines
regarding fair value measurements and disclosures are incoherent.

IFRS 13 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date (i.e. the exit price).
Consequently, the standard provides guidelines as to the method of measurement to fair value, both
at the moment of initial recognition as well as on subsequent reporting period end days.

In the current standards, a broad range of disclosures concerning measurement to fair value are mainly
in respect of financial instruments. The application of IFRS 13 will encompass those disclosures as well as other
assets and liabilities which are subject to fair value measurement.

This standard will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. The Company estimates
that although IFRS 13 will affect the presentation of disclosures involving measurement to fair value
in the financial statements, this will depend on those assets and liabilities held at the date of application
which are measured to fair value.

IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements

On 12 May 2011, the International Accounting Standards Board published the amended IAS 27 Separate
Financial Statements, which supersedes the existing IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
in that part involving separate financial statements. The change in the standard is a result of the Board's
»~Consolidation” project, as a result of which the existing content of IAS 27 was divided between IFRS 10
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2. Main accounting policies (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparing financial statements (continued)

Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 27, which will only deal with separate financial statements. Likewise,
the requirements regarding separate financial statements set forth in IAS 28 and IAS 31 were transferred
to the amended IAS 27.

The definitions and terminology of the amended standard were unified with IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12. This
standard will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. The Company estimates that
application of the amended standard will not materially affect its separate financial statements.

IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

On 12 May 2011, the International Accounting Standards Board published the amended IAS 28 Investments
in Associates and Joint Ventures, which superseded the existing IAS 28 Investments in Associates. The change
in the standard was due to the Board project ,Joint Ventures”.

In this project, the IASB decided to include accounting for joint ventures within the scope of the amended IAS
28, as the new standard IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements will only allow for the measurement of interests in joint
ventures using the equity method. As a result, an entity should apply IFRS 11 solely for the purpose
of determining the type of enterprise in which it participates, and upon determining that the interests are
in a joint venture, the investment is recognised and is measured using the equity method, in accordance
with the amended IAS 28. Although the amended standard introduces no changes in the methodology
of measurement using the equity method, it no longer contains requirements concerning disclosures, as these
were included in IFRS 12.

The amended standard will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013, and will not
affect the financial statements of the Company.

Presentation of Other Comprehensive Income Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements

On 16 June 2011, the International Accounting Standards Board published amendments to IAS 1 Presentation
of Financial Statements titled Presentation of Other Comprehensive Income.

Changes were introduced in the title of one of the basic financial statements, from ,Statement of comprehensive
income” to ,Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income”, leaving the possibility to present
the statement of profit or loss separately. Entities may apply titles for these statements other than those set
forth in IAS 1.

Also introduced were clear rules regarding positions which should be presented through profit or loss
and through other comprehensive income.

The amended IAS 1 also introduces the requirement to separately group positions presented in other
comprehensive income based on their potential reclassification to profit or loss in accordance with other IFRSs.
The amendments to IAS 1 will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012, and will not have
a material effect on the financial statements of the Company.

Amended IAS 19 Employee Benefits

On 16 June 2011, the International Accounting Standards Board published an amended IAS 19 Employee
Benefits. Work on the standard was carried out in conjunction with the American Financial Accounting Standards
Board to unify certain regulations concerning employee benefit programs between IFRS and US GAAP.

The amendments to the standard introduce significant changes with respect to accounting for specified employee
benefit programs. Among the items eliminated was the so-called 'corridor' approach enabling deferral
in the recognition of actuarial gains and losses. This results in the necessity to recognise actuarial gains
and losses when they arise. Elimination of this recognition option introduces consistency and clarity
to the presented data. The requirement for early recognition (usually in the period in which they initially arise),
was also introduced for costs of past employment.

Changes in the standard also involve the means of presentation of changes arising in the assets and liabilities
of specified benefit programs. Among others the principle of recognising changes arising as a result of
measurement of assets and liabilities of a program in other comprehensive income was introduced.

The amendment significantly expands the scope of disclosures for specified benefit programs, mainly
with respect to the nature of these programs and the risk to which an entity is exposed due to participation
in a program.
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2. Main accounting policies (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparing financial statements (continued)

The amended IAS 19 will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. The Company
estimates that application of the amended standard will result in a change in the presentation of actuarial gains
and losses in other comprehensive income, not as until now in profit or loss and as a one-off recognition in other
comprehensive income of unsettled costs of past employment recognised until now through the straight-line
method for a period of 13.5 years. The result of this would be to decrease other comprehensive income
at 1 January 2013 by the amount of PLN 2 531 thousand, due to costs of past employment which were not
amortised to 1 January 2013.

IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine

On 19 October 2011, the International Accounting Standards Board published Interpretation IFRIC 20 Stripping
Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine. The Interpretation is applied to the recognition of costs
of accessing ore through the removal of overburden during the production phase of a surface mining operation.
The Interpretation regulates among others the manner of recognition of these costs as an element of assets,
their initial measurement and subsequent measurements of these assets. The Interpretation will be effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013, and will not be applicable to nor have an impact
on the Company's financial statements.

Mandatory Effective Date and Transition Disclosures from IAS 39 to IFRS 9. Amendments to IFRS 9
and IFRS 7

On 16 December 2011, the International Accounting Standards Board published the document Mandatory
Effective Date and Transition Disclosures as an amendment to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7. This document amends
the effective date of IFRS 9 from on or after 1 January 2013 to on or after 1 January 2015, and allows for early
application. The Board also amended IFRS 7, requiring additional disclosures in terms of the transition from IAS
39 to IFRS 9. Deferment of the Mandatory Effective Date to apply IFRS 9 is a result of the Board's deferral
of the work on the remaining parts of the project aimed at replacing IAS 39 by IFRS 9 to later periods.
The change introduced will cause a deferment in application by the Company of the standard in respect
of the initial deadline, due to the high probability that IFRS 9 will be adopted by the European Union only in its
complete form.

Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities. Amendments to IAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation

On 16 December 2011, the International Accounting Standards Board published the document Offsetting
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities as an amendment to IAS 32. The Board supplemented the Application
Guidance accompanying the standard with respect to the conditions for offsetting and presenting financial assets
and liabilities in a net amount in the statement of financial position. Under paragraph 42 of IAS 32, an entity
may offset financial assets and liabilities, if (a) it currently has a legally enforceable right to set off
the recognised amounts, and (b) it intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously. Due to practical doubts in interpretation, in terms of the legally enforceable right
to set off and in terms of recognising a given settlement as a net settlement (even for gross cash flows) with the
participation of settlement institutions, the Board introduced additional explanations, enabling uniform
implementation of the requirements of para. 42 of IAS 32 by financial institutions. The amendments will be
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014, and will not have an impact on the Company's
financial statements.

Disclosures - Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures

On 22 December 2011, the International Accounting Standards Board published the document Disclosures -
Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities as an amendment to IFRS 7. The amendments introduce
additional information disclosure requirements, which enable users of financial statements to evaluate
the impact, or potential impact, of offsetting agreements, with the actual or potential impact from realisation
of a legally enforceable right to set off financial assets and liabilities recognised by an entity in its statement
of financial position. Additional detailed disclosures will deal with all those amounts which an entity may
potentially offset in its statement of financial position, regardless of whether or not an entity made use of this
right. The amendments will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013, and will affect
the Company's financial statements through the expanded scope of disclosures.

These financial statements do not apply standards or interpretations prior to their effective date
or prior to adoption by the European Union.
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2. Main accounting policies (continued)
2.2 Accounting policies
2.2.1 Property, plant and equipment

The following are considered to be items of property, plant and equipment:

- assets held by the entity for use in production, supply of goods and services or for administrative
purposes,

- assets which are expected to be used during more than one year,

- assets which are expected to generate future economic benefits that will flow to the entity, and

- assets whose value can be measured reliably.

Upon initial recognition, items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost.

Borrowing costs incurred for the purchase or construction of a qualifying item of property, plant
and equipment are recognised in the cost. Principles for the capitalisation of borrowing costs are presented
in point 2.2.22.

Foreign exchange differences arising from foreign currency liabilities, related to the purchase
or construction of an item of property, plant and equipment, are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

Upon initial recognition, in the costs of property, plant and equipment are included the anticipated costs
of future assets’ dismantling and removal and cost of restoring the sites on which they are located,
the obligation for which an entity incurs either when the item is installed or as a consequence of having
used the item for purposes other than to produce inventories. In particular, in the initial cost of items
of property, plant and equipment are included discounted decommissioning costs of assets relating
to underground mining, as well as of other facilities which, in accordance with binding laws, must be
liguidated upon the conclusion of activities.

Mine decommissioning costs recognised in the initial cost of an item of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated in the same manner as the item of property, plant and equipment to which they relate,
beginning from the moment an asset is brought into use, throughout the period set out in the asset group
decommissioning plan within the schedule of mines decommissioning.

The decommissioning costs of other facilities recognised in the initial cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment are amortised beginning from the moment an item of property, plant and equipment is brought
into use, throughout the period of use and in accordance with the method used for the depreciation
of those items of property, plant and equipment to which they have been assigned.

Property, plant and equipment acquired before 31 December 1996 and brought into use after this date,
for which expenditures were incurred to the end of 1996, were restated to account for the effects
of hyperinflation in accordance with IAS 29, Financial reporting in hyperinflationary economies.

As at the end of the reporting period, items of property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. (Described in detail in note 2.2.9)

Subsequent expenditures on items of property, plant and equipment (for example to increase
the usefulness of an item, for spare parts or renovation) are recognised in the carrying amount of a given
item only if it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the entity,
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other expenditures on repairs and maintenance are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Items of property, plant and equipment (excluding land) are depreciated using the straight-line method
over their anticipated useful life. The residual value and useful life of an asset and the method
of depreciation applied to items of property, plant and equipment are reviewed at least at the end of each
financial year.

The useful lives, and therefore the depreciation rates of items of property, plant and equipment used
in the production of copper, are adapted to the plans for the closure of operations.

For individual groups of assets, the following useful lives have been adopted:

- buildings and civil engineering objects: 25 - 60 years,

- technical equipment and machines: 4 - 15 years,

- motor vehicles: 3 - 14 years,

- other property, plant and equipment, including tools and instruments: 5 - 10 years.
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2. Main accounting policies (continued)
2.2 Accounting policies (continued)
2.2.1 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation begins when an item of property, plant and equipment is available for use. Depreciation
ceases at the earlier of the date that the asset is classified as held for sale (or included as part of a disposal
group which is classified as held for sale) in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current assets held for sale
and discontinued operations or when it is derecognised upon disposal or retirement.

The basis for the calculation of depreciation is the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment less its
estimated residual value.

The individual significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment (components), whose useful
lives are different from the useful life of the given asset as a whole and whose cost is significant
in comparison to the cost of the item of property, plant and equipment as a whole, are depreciated
separately, applying depreciation rates reflecting their anticipated useful lives.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down to its recoverable amount, if the carrying amount of the asset
(or a cash-generating unit to which it belongs) is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

The asset’s carrying amount includes costs of necessary regular major overhauls, including costs
of overhauls for the purpose of certification.

Specialised spare parts with a significant initial cost and an anticipated useful life of more than 1 year are
recognised as an item of property, plant and equipment. Spare parts and servicing-related equipment
whose use is restricted to only certain items of property, plant and equipment are recognised in a similar
manner. Other spare parts and servicing-related equipment with an insignificant cost are recognised
as inventories and accounted for in profit or loss at the moment they are used.

A fixed asset is derecognised when it is sold, decommissioned or if no future economic benefits are
expected to be derived from its use or disposal.

2.2.2 Intangible assets

Intangible assets include:

- development costs,

- software,

- acquired concessions, patents, licenses,

- other intangible assets, and

- intangible assets not yet available for use (under construction).

On initial recognition, intangible assets are measured at cost.

Any borrowing costs incurred for the purchase or construction of a qualifying item of intangible assets are
recognised in the cost. Principles for the capitalisation of borrowing costs are presented in point 2.2.22.

If payment for an intangible asset is deferred for a period which is longer than standard for ordinary
buyer’s credit (in practice a period of over 1 year is assumed), its purchase price should reflect the amount
which would be paid in cash. The difference between this amount and the total payment is recognised
in profit or loss as interest cost (a discount of liabilities) in financial costs in the period of repayment
(settlement) of liabilities. Exchange differences which arise from liabilities in a foreign currency which are
related to the acquisition or construction of an item of intangible assets are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

At the end of the reporting period intangible assets are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation
and impairment losses (described in detail in note 2.2.9).

Intangible assets are amortised using the straight-line method over their anticipated useful lives, which
for individual groups of intangible assets are as follows:

- Development costs - 5 - 15 years,

- Software - 2 - 5 years,

- Concessions, licenses and patents - 5 years,

- Other intangible assets, including rights to geological information - 50 years.
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2. Main accounting policies (continued)
2.2 Accounting policies (continued)
2.2.2 Intangible assets (continued)

KGHM Polska Miedz S.A. does not report intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, however it has
reported intangible assets not yet available for use (under construction). The Company does not amortise
such items of intangible assets, however they are tested for impairment annually. Any potential
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.

The amortisation method and the amortisation rate of intangible assets are subject to review at least
at the end of each financial year.

Development costs

The Company carries out development projects which are primarily aimed at reducing copper production
costs, increasing the production capacity of smelters and mines, improving the technical parameters
of manufactured products, and improving copper production technology.

An intangible asset arising from development is recognised if the entity can demonstrate:

- the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale,

- the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it,

- its ability to use or sell the intangible asset,

- the manner in which the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits,

- the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development
and use or sell the intangible asset, and

- its ability to measure reliably the expenditures attributable to the intangible asset that have been
incurred during its development.

The cost of internally-generated development work recognised as an item of intangible assets is the sum
of expenditure incurred from the date when the intangible asset arising from development first meets
the criteria for recognition.

Capitalised development costs, until the moment when the given development project is successfully
completed and the decision has been taken to implement it, are recognised as an intangible asset not yet
available for use and are not amortised. Such intangible assets are, however, tested annually
for impairment. The amount of the impairment is recognised in profit or loss.

Internally generated intangible assets are amortised using the straight-line method over the period of their
anticipated use.

Research expenditure is recognised as an expense as incurred.

2.2.3 Equity investments

Subsidiaries

In the financial statements, investments in subsidiaries which are not classified as held for sale
in accordance with IFRS 5 are recognised at cost, in accordance with IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements, less any impairment losses, in accordance with IAS 36, Impairment of Assets, where
impairment losses are measured by comparing their carrying amount with the higher of the following
amounts:

- fair value, less costs to sell, and

- value in use.

Combinations of business entities under common control are accounted for by applying the pooling
of interests method.
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2. Main accounting policies (continued)
2.2 Accounting policies (continued)
2.2.3 Equity investments (continued)

Associates

Associated entities are those entities over which the Company has significant influence but not control,
and in which it participates in setting both the financial and operational policy of a given entity, which is
commonly associated with the ownership of from 20% to 50% of the total number of votes in the entity’s
governing bodies or the possibility of affecting its operations in another manner.

In the financial statements of the Company, shares in associates which are not classified as held for sale
in accordance with IFRS 5 are recognised at cost, in accordance with IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements, less any impairment losses, in accordance with IAS 36, Impairment of Assets, where
impairment is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount with the higher of two amounts:

- fair value, less costs to sell, and

- value in use.

At the end of the reporting period no associates were held by the Company.

2.2.4. Financial Instruments

2.2.4.1 Classification of financial instruments

Financial instruments are classified into one of the following categories:
= financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss,

L] loans and receivables,

*  held-to-maturity investments,

= available-for-sale financial assets,

= financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss,
= other financial liabilities,

= derivative hedging instruments.

Financial instruments are classified based on their characteristics and the purpose for which they were
acquired. Classification is made upon initial recognition of the financial asset or liability. Classification
of derivatives depends on their purpose and on whether they qualify for hedge accounting according
to the requirements of IAS 39. Derivatives are classified as derivative hedging instruments, instruments
initially designated as hedging instruments excluded from hedge accounting and as financial instruments
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

The carrying amount of cash flows due to financial instruments with a maturity more than 12 months
from the end of the reporting period is classified as a non-current asset or non-current liability.
The carrying amount of cash flows due to financial instruments with a maturity period of less than
12 months from the end of the reporting period is classified as a current asset or current liability.

The Company has adopted the following principles for the classification of financial instruments
to the above specified categories of financial assets and liabilities:

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss

This category includes financial assets and financial liabilities held for trading and financial assets
and liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss at their initial recognition. A financial asset is
classified to this category if it is acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near term or if it is
designated by the entity upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. A financial asset
or financial liability may be designated by the entity when initially recognised at fair value through profit
or loss only if:

a) such classification eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency (also
defined as “an accounting mismatch”), that would otherwise arise from measuring these financial
instruments or recognising gains or losses using a different basis; or

b) a group of financial instruments is managed properly and the performance of the group is evaluated
on the fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy.

Available-for-sale financial assets and liabilities include derivatives, unless they have been designated
as hedging instruments.

Assets in this category are classified as current if they are available for sale and if the carrying amount is
realised within a period of up to 12 months from the end of the reporting period.
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2. Main accounting policies (continued)

2.2 Accounting policies (continued)

2.2.4 Financial instruments (continued)

2.2.4.1 Classification of financial instruments (continued)

Loans and receivables (L&R)

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted on an active market.

Loans and receivables are classified as current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after
the end of the reporting period. Loans and receivables with maturities greater than 12 months after
the end of the reporting period are classified as non-current assets.

Loans and receivables in the statement of financial position are included in the item: trade and other
receivables.

Cash and cash equivalents are classified as loans and receivables. Cash and cash equivalents are
a separate item in the statement of financial position.

Held-to-maturity investments (HtM)

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
and fixed maturities that the Company has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity, except
for assets classified as measured at fair value through profit or loss or available for sale, as well as financial
assets meeting the definition of loans and receivables.

Available-for-sale financial assets (AfS)

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either designated
as “available-for-sale” or not classified to any of the other categories. This category primarily includes
financial assets which do not have a fixed maturity date and which do not meet the criteria for being
included in other categories.

Available-for-sale financial assets are included in non-current assets unless the Company intends
to dispose of the investment within 12 months from the end of the reporting period.

Other financial liabilities

Financial liabilities included in this category are those that were not classified at their initial recognition
as measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Hedging instruments (HI)

Derivatives designated and qualifying for hedge accounting are classified into a separate category called:
Hedging instruments. The Company presents as hedging instruments the entire fair value of instruments
designated to this category and qualifying for hedge accounting, even if the Company excludes the time
value of a derivative from effectiveness measurement.

Instruments initially designated as hedging instruments excluded from hedge accounting

Derivatives initially designated as qualifying for hedge accounting, and then excluded from hedge
accounting, are presented as Instruments initially designated as hedging instruments excluded from hedge
accounting.

Instruments initially designated as hedging instruments excluded from hedge accounting are measured
at fair value through profit or loss.

2.2.4.2. Initial measurement and derecognition of financial instruments

Transactions respecting the purchase and sale of investments, including regular way purchases or sales,
are recognised at the trade date, initially at fair value plus transaction costs, with the exception of financial
assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss, which are initially recognised at fair
value. Investments are derecognised when the rights to the cash flows from the investments have expired
or have been transferred and the Company has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards
of their ownership. Where substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership have not been
transferred, investments are derecognised when the Company loses control over a given asset.
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2. Main accounting policies (continued)
2.2 Accounting policies (continued)

2.2.4 Financial instruments (continued)

2.2.4.3. Measurement of financial instruments at the end of the reporting period

Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss, available-
for-sale financial assets and hedging instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss, available-for-sale
financial assets and derivative hedging instruments are subsequently measured at fair value. Available-for-
sale financial assets, which do not have a fixed maturity date, and the fair value of which cannot be
determined in a reliable manner, are carried at cost.

Gains and losses on financial assets which are classified as financial assets measured at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Gains and losses on financial assets which are classified as available-for-sale are recognised in other
comprehensive income, except for impairment losses and exchange gains or losses on monetary assets
and gains or losses on interest calculated using the effective interest rate, which are recognised in profit
or loss. When available-for-sale financial assets are derecognised, the total cumulative gains and losses
which had been recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss
as an adjustment from reclassification.

The disposal of investments of the same type but with a different cost basis is accounted for using the FIFO
method, i.e. the assets disposed of are valued successively at the prices of those assets which were
acquired earlier.

Loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments

Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest rate method.

Other financial liabilities

After initial recognition, the entity measures all financial liabilities, apart from those classified as at fair
value through profit or loss, at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method except for:

= financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset does not qualify for derecognition.

If the transfer of financial assets does not qualify them for derecognition because the entity retained
virtually all of the risks and rewards associated with ownership of the transferred asset, then the entity
continues to fully recognise the transferred asset and simultaneously recognises a financial liability
in the amount of the payment received.

In subsequent periods, the entity recognises all revenues received from the transferred asset and all
expenditures incurred in respect of the financial liability;

= financial guarantee agreements, measured at the higher of:
o the amount determined in accordance with note 2.2.14 Provisions, or

o the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation recognised according to IAS
18 Revenue.

2.2.4.4. Fair value

Fair value is considered to be the purchase price of a financial instrument or, in case of financial liabilities,
the sales price of an instrument, unless there are any indicators that a financial instrument was not
purchased at fair value.

At the end of the reporting period, the fair value of financial instruments, for which an active market exists,
is established based on the current bid/ask prices. If the market for a financial asset or liability is not active
(and in relation to non-quoted securities), the Company establishes fair value using appropriate valuation
techniques. Valuation techniques used include comparison with recent arm’s length market transactions,
if available, reference to the current fair value of another instruments that are substantially the same,
discounted cash flow analysis, option pricing models and other valuation techniques/models which are
commonly used by market participants, adjusted to the characteristics and parameters of the fair valued
financial instrument and the situation of the issuer.
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2. Main accounting policies (continued)
2.2 Accounting policies (continued)

2.2.4 Financial instruments (continued)
2.2.4.4. Fair value (continued)

Estimated fair value reflects the amount recoverable or payable to close out an outstanding position
at the end of the reporting period. Where possible, transactions are fair valued based on market prices.
In the case of purchase or sale of commodity forwards, fair value was estimated based on forwards prices
for the maturity dates of specific transactions. In the case of copper, the official London Metal Exchange
closing prices and volatility estimates as at the end of the reporting period are obtained from the Reuters
news service. For silver and gold, the London Bullion Market Association fixing price at the end
of the reporting period is used. In the case of volatility and forward prices, quotations of Banks/Brokers are
used. Currency interest rates and currency volatility ratios obtained from Reuters are used. Forwards and
swaps on the copper market are priced based on a forward market curve. Silver and currency forward
prices are calculated based on fixing and respective interest rates. Levy approximation to the Black-Scholes
model is used for Asian options pricing on commodity markets, whereas the standard Garman-Kohlhagen
model is used for European options pricing on currency markets.

The fair value of unquoted debt securities is determined as the present value of future cash flows
discounted using the prevailing interest rate.

The fair value of participation units of open-end cash investment funds is determined based
on the valuations made by those funds. The fair value of share in close-end investment funds classified
as available-for-sale financial assets is determined based on the information included in the financial
statements of the funds. The fair values of other financial instruments held by the Company are
determined based on market prices or on valuation techniques which use as input data only observable
market variables from active markets.

2.2.4.5. Impairment of financial assets

At the end of each reporting period an assessment is made of whether there is objective evidence that
a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. The following are considered significant objective
indicators (evidence of impairment): significant financial difficulty of the debtor, legal action being taken
against the debtor, the disappearance of an active market for a given financial instrument, the occurrence
of significant unfavourable changes in the economic, legal or market environment of the issuer
of a financial instrument, and the continuing substantial decrease or prolonged decrease of the fair value
of a equity instrument below its cost.

If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss that had been
recognised directly in other comprehensive income - calculated as the difference between the acquisition
cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised
in profit or loss - is removed from other comprehensive income and reclassified to profit or loss
as an adjustment from reclassification.

Impairment losses on equity instruments recognised in profit or loss shall be reversed through other
comprehensive income. The reversal of impairment losses on debt financial instruments is recognised
in profit or loss if, in a period subsequent to the period of the recognition of the impairment loss, the fair
value of these instruments increased due to events occurring after the recognition of the impairment loss.

If evidence of potential impairment of loans and receivables or of held-to-maturity investments measured
at amortised cost exists, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the original
effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate calculated at the initial recognition for fixed interest
rate assets, and the effective interest rate computed at the last revaluation for floating interest rate
assets). Any impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. The carrying amount of such financial assets
includes the impairment loss (due to credit losses) recorded in a separate account.
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2. Main accounting policies (continued)
2.2 Accounting policies (continued)
2.2.4 Financial instruments (continued)

2.2.4.5. Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Receivables and loans, as well as held-to-maturity investments which are measured at amortised cost, are
individually tested for impairment at the end of each reporting period. Receivables, against
which no impairment allowance was made, but for which the possibility of impairment exists due to their
specific credit risk (related for example to the type of activity or structure of the clients) are tested
for impairment as a group (assets’ portfolio). Due to the nature of the sales of KGHM Polska Miedz S.A.
and a restrictive policy towards credit risk, the Company analyses receivables primarily on an individual
basis (regardless of their significance) in terms of the existence and recognition of impairment allowances.
An impairment loss is reversed, if in subsequent periods the impairment is reduced, and this reduction may
be attributed to events occurring after recognition of the impairment loss. The reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised in profit or loss.

2.2.4.6. Embedded derivatives

Initial recognition of derivatives

Embedded derivatives are separated from host contracts and accounted for separately as at the date
of transaction, if all of the following conditions are met:

= the hybrid (combined) instrument is not measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised
in profit or loss,

= the characteristics and risk of the embedded derivative are not closely related to the characteristics
and risk of the host contract, and

= a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition
of a derivative.

Re-assessment of contracts for possible separation of embedded derivative is made whenever there is
a significant change to the contract that significantly modifies cash flows arising from the contract.

These criteria in particular are deemed as being met especially for contracts involving metals sales
or the purchase of copper-bearing materials, in which prices are set after the date of sale or purchase.

In such cases the Company accounts for the embedded derivative separately from the host sale/purchase
contract. From the moment of separation, the embedded derivative instrument is measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period. From the date of separation, the embedded derivative is classified
as a financial asset or liability measured at fair value through profit or loss. Any change in the balance
of the embedded derivative is accounted for as an adjustment respectively of revenues from sales or costs
of sales.

2.2.4.7 Hedge accounting

Hedging, for accounting purposes, involves proportional offsetting of the effects of changes in the fair value
or changes in cash flows arising from a hedging instrument and a linked hedged item. Hedges include fair
value hedges, cash flow hedges and hedges of net investment in foreign operations. Financial assets which
are not derivatives, or financial liabilities which are not derivatives, may be designated as hedging
instruments only for the currency risk hedging relationships.

The Company does not recognise either fair value hedges or hedges of net investment in foreign
operations. Hedging instruments are designated as cash flow hedges.
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2. Main accounting policies (continued)
2.2 Accounting policies (continued)
2.2.4 Financial instruments (continued)
2.2.4.7 Hedge accounting (continued)

Derivatives used in cash flow hedges

The Company hedges cash flows. In a cash flow hedge, a derivative used as a hedging instrument is
an instrument which:

* hedges the exposure to volatility of cash flows which is attributable to a particular type of risk
associated with an asset or liability recognised in the statement of financial position, or a highly
probable forecast transaction, and

= will affect profit or loss.

Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument in a cash flow hedge are
recognised in other comprehensive income, to the extent by which the change in fair value represents
an effective hedge of the associated hedged item. The portion which is ineffective is recognised in profit
or loss as other operating income or costs. Gains or losses arising from the hedging instrument in cash flow
hedges are recognised in profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment, in the same period or periods
in which the hedged item affects profit or loss.

Hedge effectiveness is the degree to which changes in the cash flows of the hedged item that are
attributable to the hedged risk are offset by changes in the cash flows of the hedging instruments.

If the hedged firm commitment or forecast future transaction subsequently results in the recognition
of a non-financial asset or non-financial liability in the statement of financial position, then, at the time
the item is recognised, all associated gains and losses are included in the initial cost or other carrying
amount of the asset or liability.

The designated hedges relate to the future transactions forecasted as assumed in the Sales Plan for a given
year. These plans are prepared based on the production capacities for a given period. The Company
estimates that the probability of these transactions occurring is very high, as from a historical point
of view, sales were always realised at the levels assumed in Sales Plans.

When entering into hedging transactions, the Company documents the relationship between hedging
instruments and the hedged items, as well as the objective of entering into a particular transaction.
The Company also documents its assessment, both at the date of inception of the hedge as well
as on an on-going basis, of whether the hedging instruments are and will be highly effective in offsetting
changes in the cash flows of the hedged items.

Discontinuation of hedge accounting

The Company ceases to account for derivatives as hedging instruments when they expire, are sold,
terminated or settled, or when the Company revokes its designation of a given instrument as a hedging
instrument. The Company may designate a new hedging relationship for a given derivative, change
the intended use of the derivative, or designate it to hedge another type of risk. In such a case, for cash flow
hedges, gains or losses which arose in the periods in which the hedge was effective are retained in other
comprehensive income until the hedged item affects profit or loss.

If the hedge of a firm commitment or forecast future transaction ceases to exist, because the hedged item
no longer meets the definition of a firm commitment, or because it is probable that the forecast transaction
will not occur, then the net gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income is immediately
transferred to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment.

2.2.5 Inventories

Inventories consist of the following items:

- materials,

- half-finished products and work in progress,
- finished goods, and

- merchandise.

Inventory additions are measured in accordance with the following principles:

- materials and merchandise - at cost,
- finished goods, half-finished products - at actual manufacturing cost,
- work in progress - based on valuation of the work-in-progress inventories.
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2. Main accounting policies (continued)
2.2 Accounting policies (continued)
2.2.,5 Inventories (continued)

Inventory disposals are measured in accordance with the following principles:

- materials and merchandise - at average cost based on the weighted average cost of a given item,

- finished goods, half-finished products and work in progress - valuation as the difference between
inventories closing balance and the value of any additions, and giving due regard to the balance
at the beginning of the reporting period, using the weighted average cost method.

Inventories are measured in accordance with the following principles:

- materials and merchandise - at average cost as set for inventory disposal,

- finished goods, half-finished products and work in progress - based on cumulative actual
manufacturing costs and giving due regard to the balance at the beginning of the reporting period.

At the end of the reporting period inventories are measured, using the above-mentioned policies, but not
higher than the net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

2.2.6 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value. After initial recognition, trade receivables are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate, less allowance for impairment, while trade
receivables with the maturity period of up to 12 months from the receivable origination date are not
discounted.

Impairment allowances on trade receivables are recognised when there is objective evidence that an entity
will not be able to collect all amounts due. The amount of the impairment allowance is the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted
at the effective interest rate.

The amount of the impairment allowance is recognised in profit or loss.

Receivables not representing financial assets are recognised initially at their nominal value and measured
at the end of the reporting period at the amount due.

Receivables with a maturity period of over 12 months from the end of the reporting period are classified
as non-current assets. Current assets include receivables with a maturity period of up to 12 months
from the end of the reporting period.

The category trade and other receivables includes:

+ trade receivables - these are receivables which arise from the principal operating activities
of the Company,

+ receivables due to fixed assets under construction and intangible assets, and

. other receivables, including:

- loans granted,

- other financial receivables, i.e. receivables meeting the definition of financial assets,

- other non-financial receivables, including among others advances for deliveries and for fixed assets,
for fixed assets under construction and intangible assets and for shares in subsidiaries, co-
subsidiaries and associates; receivables from employees, if they are settled other than by cash
payment; and also budget receivables, and

- prepayments.

2.2.7 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand and in bank accounts, on-demand deposits, other safe
current investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of their placement,
acquisition or issuance and with high liquidity. Cash and cash equivalents also include interest on cash
equivalents.

2.2.8 Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held for sale

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as held for sale, if their carrying amount is to be
recovered principally through sale transactions rather than through continuing use, under condition that
they are available for immediate sale in their present condition subject only to terms that are customary
for sales of such assets (or disposal groups) and their sale must be highly probable.

Before the initial classification of assets (or disposal groups) as held for sale, the carrying amount
of the asset is measured in accordance with applicable standards. At the moment of reclassification these
assets are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and their fair value less costs to sell.
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2. Main accounting policies (continued)

2.2 Accounting policies (continued)
2.2.9 Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets not yet available for use, are not amortised, but are tested annually for impairment.

A depreciable non-financial asset is tested for impairment whenever an event or change in circumstances
indicates that its carrying amount may not be recoverable. Amongst the fundamental and most important
external indications of possible impairment are the continuation over the long term of a situation in which
the carrying amount of Company net assets exceeds their market value, as well as unfavourable technical,
market and economic changes to the environment in which the Company operates, including
on the destination markets for the Company’s products. Another possible indication of impairment may be
an increase in market interest rates and premiums for risk reflected in calculations of the discount rates
used to calculate the value in use of Company assets.

Internal factors taken into account in determining whether Company assets have been impaired primarily
include the substantial decrease in actual net cash flow in relation to the net cash flow from operating
activities assumed in the Budget, and, with respect to individual assets, any physical damage, loss of utility
and the generation of lower economic benefits than expenditures incurred on their acquisition
or construction, if a given asset independently generates cash flow.

An impairment loss is recognised as the amount of the carrying value of the given asset which exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of two amounts: fair value less costs to sell,
and value in use.

For the purpose of impairment assessment, assets are grouped at the lowest level at which they generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets (cash-generating units).

Cash-generating units are determined separately each time an impairment test is to be performed.

If an impairment test indicates that the recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of the asset’s fair value less
costs to sell and its value in use) of a given asset or cash-generating unit is lower than its carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised as the difference between the recoverable amount and the carrying
amount of a given asset or cash-generating unit. Any impairment loss is allocated to assets within
the cash-generating units proportionally to their share of the carrying amount of the entire unit. If such
allocation is made, the carrying amount of the asset may not be lower than the highest of the following
amounts: fair value less costs to sell, value in use and zero.

Non-financial non-current assets, other than goodwill, for which an impairment loss was recognised in prior
periods, are tested at the end of each reporting period to determine whether there is any indication
of the possibility that an impairment loss may be reversed.

2.2.10 Equity

Equity in the financial statements of the Company consists of:
1. Share capital at nominal value,
2. Accumulated other comprehensive income, which consists of:
- accumulated gains/losses from measurement, set at the fair value of the cash flow hedging
instruments in the portion reflecting an effective hedge,
- accumulated gains/losses from the fair value measurement of available-for-sale financial assets, and
- income tax related to accumulated gains/losses presented in accumulated other comprehensive
income.
3. Retained earnings, composed of:
- undistributed profit or unabsorbed losses from previous years (accumulated profit/loss from prior
years),
- reserve capital created in accordance with the Commercial Partnerships and Companies Code,
- reserve capital created and used in accordance with the Statutes of the Company,
- profit or loss for the period.

In equity “total comprehensive income” represents: profit or loss for the period and other comprehensive
income for the reporting period.
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2. Main accounting policies (continued)

2.2 Accounting policies (continued)

2.2.11 Liabilities

Liabilities are present obligations of the Company arising from past events, the settlement of which is
expected to result in an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits.

Liabilities comprise:

- liabilities arising from bank loans, other loans (borrowings) and finance lease liabilities,

- trade payables,

- other financial liabilities, and

- other non-financial liabilities.

Current trade payables are recognised in the statement of financial position at their nominal value.
The carrying amount of these liabilities reflects the approximate amount representing the level
of amortised cost, calculated using the effective interest rate.

Liabilities not classified as financial liabilities are measured at the amount due.

2.2.12 Accrued expenses

Accrued expenses are due and payable liabilities arising from goods received or services performed,
for which the payment has not yet been made, an invoice has not been received or a formal agreement has
not been reached with the supplier, including amounts due to employees.

Accruals include among others:

- salary and the related surcharges paid on a one-off basis, relating to annual periods,
- accrued taxes and local fees, and

- short-term accruals for unused annual leave.

2.2.13 Deferred income

Deferred income includes mainly monetary resources received to finance the acquisition or manufacture
of fixed assets under construction or development work, which are recognised as income over the periods
necessary to match it with the depreciation of the assets financed by these resources.

2.2.14 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result
of a past event, such that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Provisions are recognised, in particular, in respect of the following:

- future costs of mine decommissioning, after the conclusion of mining activities,

- future costs of decommissioning of technological facilities (in the copper smelters) and other facilities
in cases where the law provides for the obligation to dismantle and remove such assets after
the conclusion of mining activities and to restore the sites to their original condition,

- the effects of court proceedings and of disputed issues,

- guarantees granted.

Provisions are recognised in an amount representing the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle

the present obligation at the end of the reporting period. If the effect of the time value of money is

material, the amount of the provision shall be the present value of the expenditure expected to be required
to settle the obligation.

The provision for future decommissioning costs of mines and other facilities is recognised based
on the estimated expected costs of decommissioning of such facilities and of restoring the sites to their
original condition. Estimation of this provision is based on specially-prepared studies using ore exploitation
forecasts (for mining facilities), and technical-economic expertise prepared either by specialist firms
or within the Company. Provisions are reviewed quarterly at the end of the reporting period.

The amount of provisions set at 1 January 2004, i.e. at the transition date for application of IFRS
for the purposes of preparing the consolidated financial statements, recognised in the cost of property,
plant and equipment, was calculated based on the optional exemption set out in IFRS 1 First-time Adoption
of IFRS. Beginning from 1 January 2004, all changes arising from changes in the amount of provisions are
recognised in accordance with IFRIC 1 Changes in Existing Decommissioning, Restoration and Similar
Liabilities.
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2.2 Accounting policies (continued)
2.2.14 Provisions (continued)

Revaluations of the estimated provision for the costs of future decommissioning of mines and other

technological facilities reflect:

- decreases due to its utilisation,

- increases due to the passage of time (unwinding of the discount) - recognised in financial costs,

- increases/decreases due to changes in the discount rate - recognised in the initial value of property, plant
and equipment¥*,

- increases/decreases due to changes in assumptions, including changes in construction-assembly prices -
recognised in the initial value of property, plant and equipment *,

- increases due to the acquisition of new assets under the future decommissioning program,

- decreases due to early, unplanned liquidation of assets under the future decommissioning program.

*Changes in the discount rate or in the estimated decommissioning cost adjust the value of the relevant
item of property, plant and equipment, unless the amount of this change exceeds the carrying amount
of property, plant and equipment. Any surplus above this amount is immediately recognised in profit or loss
of the current period in other operating income.

The discount rate calculation methodology used to measure provisions is described in Note 3.4.
In accordance with IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements provisions are presented in the statement
of financial position as either current or non-current.

2.2.15 Employee benefits

The Company pays benefits due to one-off retirement-disability rights, post-mortem benefits, coal
equivalent payments and jubilee bonuses according to the Collective Labour Agreement.

The amount of the liability due to these benefits is equal to the present value of the defined benefit
obligation at the end of the reporting period, and reflects actuarial gains and losses and the costs of past
employment. The value of defined benefit obligations is estimated at the end of the reporting period
by independent actuaries using the Projected Unit Credit Method. The present value of the defined benefit
obligation is determined by discounting estimated future cash outflow using the interest rates on treasury
bonds expressed in the currency of future benefit payment, with maturities similar to those of the liabilities
due to be paid. According to IAS 19 Employee Benefits, the discount rate should be based on the market
yields of highly liquid commercial bonds with low risk. Should there be no developed market for such
bonds, and such a situation does exist in Poland, the market yields on government bonds at the end
of the reporting period should be applied.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arose.

Costs of past employment related to defined benefit plans are accounted for in profit or loss systematically,
using the straight-line method, over the period until the benefits become vested.

KGHM Polska Miedz S.A. participates in a contribution plan on behalf of employees within the confines
of an Employee Retirement Plan. With respect to this Plan, KGHM Polska Miedz S.A. has no legal
or constructive obligation to pay employee benefits if the related insurance firm does not have sufficient
assets to cover its obligations in respect of the Plan participants after their period of employment.

2.2.16 Income taxes (including deferred tax)

Income taxes in profit or loss comprise: current tax and deferred tax.
Current income tax is calculated in accordance with current tax laws.

Deferred tax is determined using tax rates and laws that are expected to apply to the period
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.

A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. This liability is not discounted.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred tax assets are recognised
if it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences
and carry-forward of unused tax losses can be utilised.
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2.2 Accounting policies (continued)

2.2,

2.2,

2.2,

16 Income taxes (including deferred tax) (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are recognised irrespective of the period in which their
realisation is to occur.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that:

- is not a business combination, and

- at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit.

Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss for a given period, unless the deferred tax:

- arises from transactions or economic events which are directly recognised in other comprehensive
income - in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in the appropriate other comprehensive
income item, or

- arises from a business combination - in which case the deferred tax affects goodwill or gain on a bargain
purchase.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if the Company has a legally enforceable right
to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities, and if the deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority.

17 Contingent liabilities

Contingent liability is:

a) a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within
the control of the entity, or

b) a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because:

- it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation, or

- the amount of the obligation (liability) cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

The contingent liabilities include, among others:

- guarantees and promissory notes issued for the benefit of third-parties in connection with contracts,

- liabilities due to compensation for damages arising in the course of business activities, resulting
from matters which remain unresolved,

- conditionally-suspended penalties for economic use of the natural environment, and

- other contingent liabilities arising from contracts.

18 Statement of comprehensive income

All items of income and expenses for a given reporting period are presented in the Statement
of comprehensive income. This statement comprises income and expenses for the period, recognised
directly in profit or loss of the period, as well as profit and loss for the period recognised outside profit
or loss, i.e. in other comprehensive income.

The Company recognises profit and loss for the period outside profit or loss if individual standards allow or
require it. Consequently, the Company recognises profit and loss of the period in other comprehensive
income involving the fair value measurement of financial assets classified as available for sale, and of profit
and loss from fair value measurement of the effective portion of future cash flow hedging instruments,
reflecting taxation.

Profit or loss (comprising the previously-applied concepts of ,income statement” and ,statement of profit
and loss”) for the given period is the total amount resulting from the deduction of costs from income,
excluding items of other comprehensive income. The cost of sales format is applied as the basic costs
accounting method.
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2. Main accounting policies (continued)

2.2 Accounting policies (continued)

2.2.19 Revenues

Revenues from sales are recognised at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, less VAT,
rebates and discounts. In the case of sales for which the price is set after the date of recognition of a given
sale, revenues are accounted for based on the forward prices from the date of sale. Revenues from sales
which are recognised at such an amount are adjusted at the end of each reporting period by any change in
the fair value of embedded derivatives, which are separated from the host sales contract in accordance
with point 2.2.4.6.

Sales revenues are adjusted for the gain or loss from the settlement of derivatives hedging future cash
flows, in accordance with the principle that the portion of gain or loss on a derivative hedging instrument
that is determined to be an effective hedge is recognised in the same item of profit or loss in which
the gain or loss on the hedged item is recognised at the moment when the hedged item affects profit
or loss.

Recognised in sales are revenues arising from ordinary operating activities of the Company, i.e. revenues
from sales of products, services, merchandise and materials, reflecting any rebates granted and any other
decreases in selling prices.

In addition, revenue for the given reporting period which affects the profit or loss of the period includes:

other operating income, which is indirectly related to the activities carried out, in particular:

- income and gains from financial investments,

- gains from the measurement and realisation of trading derivatives and the ineffective portion of gains
from the realisation and fair value measurement of derivative hedging instruments,

-  foreign exchange gains, with the exception of exchange differences arising on liabilities representing
sources of finance for the Company’s activities,

- reversal of impairment losses on held-to-maturity investments, available-for-sale financial assets,
and loans and shares in subsidiaries and associates,

- release of unused provisions, previously charged to other operating costs, and

- gains on disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets,

finance income, representing primarily income related to financing of the activities of the Company,

including:

- net foreign exchange gains arising exclusively on liabilities from sources of financing of the Company’s
activities (loans, bank loans, bonds, finance leases etc.),

- gains on realisation and fair value measurement of derivative hedging instruments used to hedge
liabilities financing the Company’s activities.

Moment of recognition of revenues

Revenues from the sale of products, merchandise and materials are recognised when:

- the Company has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership
of the merchandise, finished goods and materials,

- the Company has ceased to have a continued involvement in the management of merchandise,
finished goods and materials sold to the extent usually associated with inventory management
function, and no longer exercises effective control over those items,

- the amount of revenue can be measured in a reliable manner,

- it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Company, and

- the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

Revenues from the sale of services are recognised when:

- the amount of revenue can be measured reliably,

- it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Company,

-  the stage of completion of the transaction at the end of the reporting period can be measured reliably,
and

- the costs connected with the transaction and the costs to complete the transaction can be measured
reliably.

The transferral of the subject of transaction is done when substantially all of the risks and rewards

of ownership of the merchandise are transferred to the buyer, in accordance with the INCOTERMS delivery

base used for a given transaction.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis, using the effective interest method.
Income from dividends is recognised when the shareholder's right is set.

2.2.20 Costs

The Company recognises as costs any probable decrease, in the reporting period, of economic benefits
of a reliably-determined amount, in the form of a decrease in the value of assets, or an increase
of provisions and liabilities, which lead to a decrease in equity or an increase in negative equity
in @ manner other than the withdrawal of funds by its owners.
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2. Main accounting policies (continued)
2.2 Accounting policies (continued)
2.2.20 Costs (continued)

Costs are recognised in profit or loss based on the direct relation between costs incurred and specific
income achieved, i.e. applying the matching principle, through prepayments and accruals.

In the case of purchases of copper-bearing materials for which the price is set after the date of recognition
of a given purchase, inventories are accounted for at the expected purchase price on the date
of recognition of the inventories. Cost of sales at the end of each reporting period is adjusted by any
change in the fair value of embedded derivatives, which are separated from the host purchase contract
in accordance with point 2.2.4.6.

Costs are accounted for both by nature and by the cost centres, and are reported in profit or loss using
the costs by function (cost of sales) format as the primary cost reporting format.

The total cost of products, merchandise and materials sold comprises:
- the manufacturing cost of products sold,

- the cost of merchandise and materials sold,

- selling costs, and

- administrative expenses.

In addition, costs for the given reporting period which affect profit or loss for the period include:

other operating costs, indirectly connected with performed activities, including in particular:

- costs and losses on financial investments,

- losses from the measurement and realisation of traded derivatives and the ineffective portion of losses
arising from the realisation and fair value measurement of derivative hedging instruments,

-  foreign exchange losses, with the exception of exchange differences arising on liabilities representing
sources of finance for the Company’s activities,

- impairment losses on held-to-maturity investments, available-for-sale financial assets, loans
and on shares in subsidiaries and associates,

- provisions recognised for disputed issues, penalties, compensation and other costs indirectly related
to operating activities,

- donations granted,

- losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets,

finance costs related to financing of the activities of the Company, including in particular:

- overdraft interest,

- interest on short- and long-term loans, bank loans and other sources of finance, including unwinding
of the discount from non-current liabilities,

- net foreign exchange losses arising on liabilities which are sources of financing of the Company’s
activities,

- changes in provisions arising from the approach of the maturity date of a liability (the so-called
unwinding of the discount effect).

2.2.21 Foreign currency transactions and the measurement of items denominated in foreign
currencies

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the Company operates, i.e. in the functional currency. The financial statements are
presented in the Polish zloty (PLN), which is the functional and presentation currency of the Company.

Transactions and balances

At the moment of initial recognition, foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional

currency:

- at the actual exchange rate applied, i.e. at the buy or sell exchange rate applied by the bank in which
the transaction occurs, in the case of the sale or purchase of currencies and the payment
of receivables or liabilities,

- at the average exchange rate set for a given currency by the NBP (National Bank of Poland) prevailing
on the date of the transaction. The exchange rate prevailing on the date of the transaction is
the average NBP rate announced on the last working day proceeding the transaction day.

At the end of each reporting period:

- foreign currency monetary items are translated at the closing rate prevailing on that date,
i.e. the average exchange rate set for a given currency by the NBP,

- non-monetary items measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rate (i.e. average exchange rate set for a given currency by the NBP) prevailing
on the transaction date, and
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2.2.21 Foreign currency transactions and the measurement of items denominated in foreign
currencies (continued)

- non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rate (i.e. average exchange rate set for a given currency by the NBP) at the date when the fair value
was determined.

Foreign exchange gains or losses arising on the settlement of a foreign currency transaction,
or on the measurement and translation of foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities (other than
derivatives), are recognised in profit or loss. Foreign exchange gains or losses arising on the measurement
of foreign currency derivatives, are recognised in profit or loss as a fair value measurement provided they
do not represent the change in the fair value of the effective cash flow hedge. In such a case they are
recognised in other comprehensive income, in accordance with hedge accounting principles.

Foreign exchange gains or losses arising on non-monetary items, such as equity instruments, are
recognised as an element of changes in fair value, if such instruments are measured at fair value through
profit or loss, or in other comprehensive income at fair value, if such equity instruments are classified
as available-for-sale financial assets.

2.2.22 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs, which are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying
asset, affect its initial value as an element of its cost. Such costs are capitalised when it is probable that
they will result in future economic benefits to the entity, and the costs can be measured reliably.

Other borrowing costs are accounted for as costs in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Borrowing costs consist of interest and other borrowing-related costs incurred, and include in particular:

- interest costs calculated using the effective interest method in accordance with IAS 39,

- financial charges due to financial leasing contracts recognised in accordance with IAS 17,

- exchange differences arising from foreign currency borrowings, to the extent that they are regarded
as an adjustment to interest costs.

A qualifying asset is an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its
intended use or sale.

Borrowing costs for loans which were drawn without a specified purpose, but which were allocated
to finance the acquisition or production of a qualifying asset, affect the initial value of the qualifying asset
by the amount of the capitalisation rate applied to the expenditures on that asset. The capitalisation rate is
the weighted average of all borrowing costs of an entity that are outstanding during a given period, other
than borrowings made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

Exchange differences on borrowings drawn in a foreign currency (both specific and general) affect
the initial value of the qualifying asset to the extent in which it represents an adjustment of interest costs.
The amount of the exchange differences adjusting the interest cost is the difference between the cost
of interest on similar financing which the Company would have drawn in its functional currency
and the financing cost incurred in the foreign currency.

2.2.23 Leases

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers to the lessee substantially all of the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of assets. The leased asset is capitalised at the inception of the lease at an amount
equal to the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments.

A depreciable asset acquired in a finance lease is depreciated over the shorter of its useful life
and the lease term.

Where the substantial part of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset is retained
by the lessor, a lease contract is classified as an operating lease. Liabilities due to operating leases not
recognised in the statement of financial position, in particular with regard to payments to the State
Treasury and to territorial self-government entities due to perpetual usufruct of land, as well as liabilities
due to other operating leases agreements, are presented in note 37.
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2. Main accounting policies (continued)

2.2 Accounting policies (continued)
2.2.24 Government grants

Non-monetary grants are accounted for at fair value.

Monetary grants for assets are presented in the statement of financial position as deferred income.

Grants are not recognised until there is a reasonable assurance that the entity will comply
with the conditions attaching to them, and that the grants will be received.

Monetary grants are recognised systematically as income over the periods necessary to match them
with the related costs which they are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis. They are not credited
directly to equity.

A grant that becomes receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the entity with no future related costs is
recognised as income of the period in which it becomes receivable, together with disclosure of this fact.
Grants related to income are presented as income, separately from the related costs which the grants are
intended to compensate. Grants are recognised as income regardless of whether they were received
in the form of cash or as a decrease of liabilities.

2.2.25 Segment reporting

Segment reporting involves the grouping of segments by the component of an entity:

- that engage in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses,

- whose operating results are reviewed regularly by the entity's chief operating decision maker to make
decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and

- for which discrete financial information is available.

The activities of KGHM Polska Miedz S.A. represent both a single operating segment and the reporting
segment ,The production of copper, precious metals and other smelter products”. The Management Board
of the Company is the main decision-making body as to the allocation of resources and assessing segment
results (the chief operating decision maker, or CDM). Management information provided to the CDM is
prepared at the Company level. The mining and production activities of KGHM Polska Miedz S.A. are
organised as a combined line of production whose final stage is the sale of the final product to the external
customer through the Head Office.

2.2.26 Capital management

The management of capital in KGHM Polska Miedz S.A. is aimed at maintaining the capacity to continue
operations, including the realisation of planned investments, in a manner allowing the Company
to generate returns for its shareholders and bring benefits to other stakeholders.

In accordance with market practice, the effective use of capital is monitored among others based

on the following ratios:

1. The equity ratio, calculated as the relation of net tangible assets (equity less intangible assets) to total
assets,

2. The ratio showing the relationship of borrowings and finance lease liabilities to EBITDA. EBITDA is
operating profit plus depreciation/amortisation, and

3. The average weighted cost of capital ratio, calculated as the average weighted cost of equity
and borrowed capital. The planned level of this ratio is used to evaluate the effectiveness of planned
investment projects.

In order to maintain financial liquidity and the creditworthiness to obtain external financing at a reasonable
cost, the Company assumes that the equity ratio shall be maintained at a level of not less than 0.5,
and the ratio of Net Debt/EBITDA at a level of up to 2.0.

2.2.27 Earnings per share

Earnings per share for each period are calculated by dividing the profit for the given period by the average
weighted number of shares outstanding in that reporting period.

2.2.28 Statement of cash flows

Cash flows from operating activities are presented using the indirect method.
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2.2

2.2,

2.2,

2.2,

2.2,

Accounting policies (continued)

29 Payments to subsidiaries

Returnable payments to reserve capital of subsidiaries by the Company are accounted for as either non-
current or current financial receivables. Non-returnable payments, including those used to cover losses
in the financial statements, are accounted for as an increase in the value of investments.

The entity which receives a non-returnable payment accounts for it in retained earnings as an additional
payment to reserve capital.

30 Acquisition of newly-issued shares in the increased share capital

Acquisition of newly issued shares is accounted for at the date of signing of the agreement (for stock
companies) or of signing of the notarial act (for limited liability companies). If the deed of a limited liability
company formation allows for an increase in its share capital to a specified amount without any change
to the deed of company formation, then the acquisition of shares is accounted for at the date of passage
of the relevant resolution by the General Shareholders’ Meeting.

31 Exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources

Property, plant and equipment (as fixed assets under construction) and intangible assets (as intangible
assets not yet available for use - exploration and evaluation expenditures) used in the exploration for and
evaluation of mineral resources from the moment the right is acquired to carry out exploratory activities are
recognised as exploration and evaluation assets. These assets are presented in the financial statements as a
separate asset group under property, plant and equipment and/or intangible assets. At the end of the
reporting period exploration and evaluation expenditures are presented in a separate column under
intangible assets (note 6).

Exploration and evaluation assets do not include expenditures on development work related to mineral

resources or expenditures incurred:

a) prior to the commencement of exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources, i.e. expenditures
incurred prior to the acquisition of legal rights to carry out exploratory activities within a specified area,
and

b) after the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting a mineral resource is demonstrable.

Activities related to the exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources include expenditures on work
performed as part of a geological project, such as geochemical analysis of terrain, geological charting,
exploratory drilling, taking samples for chemical, mineralogical and geophysical analysis, performing
geological, hydrological and geological-engineering documentation, whose goal is to develop documentation
in the form of an ore management project and the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the ore
management project.

Exploration and evaluation assets are measured at the moment of initial recognition at cost. As at the end
of each reporting period expenditures are measured at cost less any impairment. Testing for impairment is
required at the moment:

- when the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting a mineral resource is demonstrable,
i.e. prior to reclassification of these assets to another asset group (including to fixed assets under
construction or intangible assets not yet available for use other than those used in the exploration
for and evaluation of mineral resources), and

- when the facts and circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation
assets may exceed their recoverable amount.

Any potential impairment losses are recognised prior to reclassification.

For the purposes of testing for impairment, individual exploration and evaluation assets are tested

separately, and if this is not possible, they are allocated to the cash-generating unit which is the entity
performing the exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources.

32 Property rights resulting from certificates of origin of energy from renewable resources

and cogeneration.

Based on the Energy Act and on executive decrees of the Minister of the Economy, power generation
companies involved in the trade in and sale of electricity to end users are required to purchase and present
for redemption property rights resulting from certificates of origin of energy or the making of substitute
fees. This obligation is considered as met if, for a given financial year, the share of total volume
of electricity resulting from certificates of origin of energy in the total annual sale of electricity to end users
conforms to the limits set forth in decrees of the Minister of the Economy.
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2. Main accounting policies (continued)

2.2 Accounting policies (continued)

2.2.32 Property rights resulting from certificates of origin of energy from renewable resources
and cogeneration (continued)

In order to ensure compliance with the requirement to present for redemption property rights or to make
substitute fees, at the end of the reporting periods the Company recognises provisions for the costs
of acquiring property rights. As an energy distributor, the Company recognises provisions against the value
(cost of acquisition) of merchandise sold. The amount of this provision is the lesser of two amounts:
the market value of a given certificate of origin or the amount of the substitute fees representing
the amount of energy sold. Settlement of the provision and the redemption of property rights is made
at the date of redemption of these rights by the President of the Energy Regulation Office or at the date
of incurring substitute fees.

The Company recognises the acquired property rights in the statement of financial position
as merchandise.

Property rights at the date of acquisition are measured at cost, equivalent to the value of a given certificate
of origin based on current market price, or the amount of the renegotiated contractual price if such rights
are purchased in off-session market transactions.

At the end of the reporting period property rights are measured at cost less any impairment, though
in no case higher than their net sale price.

Penalties for failure to purchase the obligatory amount of property rights resulting from certificates
of origin of energy from renewable resources or cogeneration, or to make substitute fees, is recognised
in other operating costs.

3. Important estimates and assumptions

In preparing the financial statements, the Management Board of the Company makes use of estimates based
on assumptions and opinions which affect the applied accounting principles and presented assets, liabilities,
income and costs. The assumptions and estimates on which they are based result from historical experience
and the analysis of various factors which are considered as prudent, while their results represent the basis
for professional judgement as to the value of the item which they concern. In certain vital questions
the Management Board relies on the opinions of independent experts.

Estimates and assumptions of importance for the financial statements of the Company are presented below.

3.1 Useful life of property, plant and equipment

The Management Board of the Company annually reviews the residual value, depreciation methods and useful
lives of depreciable property, plant and equipment subject to depreciation. At 31 December 2011
the Management Board determines that the useful lives of assets applied by the Company for purposes
of depreciation reflect the expected period of future economic benefits from these assets.

3.2 Financial instruments

In accordance with the guidelines of IAS 39 relating to the classification of non-derivatives with fixed payments
or determinable maturity, these assets are classified as held-to-maturity investments. In making this
judgement, the intended use and possibility of holding such investments to maturity are evaluated. Should
the Company fail to hold such instruments to maturity, apart from the situation described in IAS 39, it would
have to reclassify all such assets recognised in this group as available-for-sale. In such a situation,
the reclassified investments would be measured at fair value, and not at amortised cost.

Embedded derivatives

At the end of each reporting period the Company analyses the materiality of the impact of separated embedded
derivatives on the financial statements. Following this analysis, the Company determined that separation
of these instruments at 31 December 2011 would not have a significant effect on the financial statements.

Afton-Ajax project

In accordance with the agreement signed on 12 October 2010, KGHM Polska Miedz S.A. acquired 51% of shares
of the company KGHM AJAX MINING INC. formed together with Abacus Mining & Exploration Corp. (Abacus),
through a cash contribution in the amount of USD 37 million (carrying amount of shares in the financial
statements as at 31 December 2011: PLN 109 763 thousand). Abacus has brought to KGHM AJAX MINING INC.
all the rights it owns to the Afton-Ajax deposit. The cash was used to carry out a Bankable Feasibility Study and
for further exploration. In accordance with this agreement, KGHM Polska Miedz S.A. holds the option to acquire
further 29% of shares of KGHM AJAX MINING INC., for an amount calculated as a multiple of USD 0.025
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3. Important estimations and assumptions (continued)

3.2 Financial instruments (continued)

per pound of copper in 29% of the probable and proven industrial ore resources, though not higher than USD
35 million (at 31 December 2011: PLN 119 609 thousand). On 22 December 2011 the work on the Bankable
Feasibility Study was completed and KGHM Polska MiedZ S.A. received the document. The Study confirmed the
chief geologic and mining parameters of the Afton-Ajax project, which until now had been estimated. Measured
& Indicated mineral resources increased to 512 million tonnes of ore containing 0.31% copper and 0.19 g/t of
gold, versus the previous 442 million tonnes of ore containing 0.30% copper and 0.19 g/t of gold. Proven &
Probable mineral reserves were calculated at 1.34 million tonnes of copper and 2.75 million ounces of gold.
Average annual production of copper and gold in concentrate amounts respectively to 50 000 tonnes of copper
and 100 000 ounces of gold. Mine life was calculated at 23 years.

Applying conservative market assumptions, NPV ratio is positive. Under the base scenario, the investment
payback period is approx. 8 years, while at current metals prices this period is less than 3 years. Capital
expenditure, estimated at USD 795 million (the equivalent of PLN 2 687 million, according to the average
USD/PLN exchange rate of the National Bank of Poland of 21 December 2011), reflects several important
changes aimed at optimising technological solutions through increasing metals recovery during processing,
decreasing operating costs, and reducing environmental impact (such as changes in preliminary milling and ore
transport systems, technological solutions at the processing plant, and in the waste storage system).

The cost of producing one tonne of copper was calculated in the range of USD 1740 - USD 2800. Mine
construction will last two years. Considering the progress to date and the time needed to obtain further permits
and administrative approval, the start-up date for the mine has been set at 2015.

The Bankable Feasibility Study was prepared in accordance with Canadian standard NI 43-101 by a consortium
of independent consultants under the direction of Tetra Tech WEI (Wardrop).

Counting from the date of receipt of the Bankable Feasibility Study, the Parent Entity had 14 days to review
the document, and had another 90 days to decide on the realisation of the option to purchase an additional
29% interest in the company KGHM AJAX MINING INC.

If the option to acquire additional 29% of shares of KGHM AJAX MINING INC. is exercised,
KGHM Polska Miedz S.A. will be obliged to organise a capital expenditure of the project financing in the amount
of USD 795 million (the equivalent of PLN 2 687 million, according to the average USD/PLN exchange rate of the
National Bank of Poland of 21 December 2011).

If this option is not executed by KGHM Polska Miedz S.A., Abacus will have an exclusive right for a period
of 90 days to buy back all of the shares belonging to KGHM Polska Miedz S.A. for an amount representing
the equivalent of their fair market value, though not higher than USD 37 million (at 31 December 2011:
PLN 126 444 thousand). If Abacus decides not to acquire the shares from KGHM Polska Miedz S.A. within this
timeframe, KGHM shall transfer, within 60 days, 2% of its shares in KGHM AJAX MINING INC. to Abacus,
increasing the share of this company to 51% for the amount of USD 1 451 thousand (at 31 December 2011:
PLN 4 959 thousand).

Under IAS 39, KGHM Polska Miedz S.A. is required to measure the options included in this agreement
as derivatives. However, at the moment of publication of the financial statements at 31 December 2010
and 30 June 2011, the Parent Entity was not able to make a reliable estimation of the fair value of these
options, as work on the Bankable Feasibility Study had not yet been concluded. After receiving this document
on 22 December 2011, its results and the possibility of calculating the fair value of these options as
at 31 December 2011 have been analysed. Due to the assumptions in the methodology applied in the Bankable
Feasibility Study and the nature of the scenarios foreseen for the project, in the opinion of the Parent Entity the
possibility of determining the reliable fair value of these options is very limited. There exists therefore the risk
of substantial uncertainty in estimating the fair value of these options. As a result of facts described above

and based on IAS 39.46(c) it was determined that these options should be measured at cost, as derivatives
related to an investment in an equity instrument which is not a traded market instrument and whose fair value
cannot be reliably measured. Cost at initial recognition is therefore the amount of the premium paid for these
options, which in this case is immaterial.

The deadline for making a corporate decision in the matter described above is 4 April 2012.

3.3 Impairment of shares in subsidiaries and associates

In order to determine the value in use of shares, the Management Board prepares an estimate of projected
cash flows which are anticipated due to the continuance of investments, and of rates used to discount these
cash flows to present value. In determining present value, assumptions are applied in respect of projected
company financial results over the next several years, based on future events and circumstances which could
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3. Important estimations and assumptions (continued)
3.3. Impairment of shares in subsidiaries and associates (continued)

differ from amounts actually achieved, and which in future reporting periods could lead to adjustments
in the values of shares in subsidiaries and associates. In the current period, analysis of the value of shares
in terms of the arising of evidence of potential impairment did not indicate the existence of any impairment.

3.4 Provisions

1. Provisions for future employee benefits — retirement or disability benefits, jubilee bonuses, post-mortem
benefits and post-employment coal equivalent payments are estimated using actuarial methods. A change
in the financial factors being the basis for estimation, i.e.

- anincrease in the discount rate by 1% would cause a decrease in the provision by PLN 121 688 thousand,

- adecrease in the discount rate by 1% would cause an increase in the provision by PLN 167 693 thousand,

- an increase in the coal price and salary increase rates by 1% would cause an increase in the provision
by PLN 177 518 thousand,

- a decrease in the coal price and salary increase rates by 1% would cause a decrease in the provision
by PLN 132 131 thousand.

2. Provisions for decommissioning costs of mines and other facilities.

These provisions represent the discounted to present value estimated future decommissioning costs of mines

and other facilities. Revaluation of this provision at the end of the reporting period is affected by the following

indicators:

a) the index of changes in prices in the construction-assembly sector published by the Central Statistical Office
(GUs),

b) the real discount rate calculated based on the profitability of treasury bonds with maturities nearest
to the planned financial outflow (nominal discount rate) and the forecast rate of inflation.

Discount rates (nominal and inflation) are set separately for future periods, i.e. one, two and three years,
and jointly for periods from the fourth year.

A 1% increase in the real discount rate (assumed in the reporting period at the level of 5.8%) used
by the Management Board to estimate the amount of the provision for decommissioning costs of mines
and other facilities would cause a decrease in the carrying amount of the provision by PLN 115 966 thousand.
However, a 1% decrease in the real discount rate would cause anincrease in the carrying amount
of the provision by PLN 152 987 thousand.

3.5 Contingent liabilities

1. Contingent liabilities due to projects and inventions are estimated at their maximum possible payable
amount based on the calculated, anticipated effects of implementation.

2. The value of remaining contingent liabilities are set at their maximum possible payable amount based
on the possible risk of the need to realise the liabilities.

3.6 Deferred tax assets/liabilities

The deferred tax assets/liabilities are measured using the tax rates which are expected to apply at the moment
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax laws that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period.

The probability of realising the deferred tax asset with future tax income is based on the Company Budget
approved by the Supervisory Board. The projected financial results indicate that the Company will achieve
taxable income, based on which the probability of settling a deferred tax asset is determined as high and is
recognised in its full amount.

4. Business segments

Based on the analysis of the organisational structure, the system of internal reporting and the management
model. it was determined that the Company represents a single operating and reporting segment, which may
be defined as , Production of copper, precious metals and other smelter products”.

The core business of the Company is the production of copper and silver. Production is a fully integrated
process, in which the end-product of one stage is the half-finished product used in the next stage. Copper ore
extracted in the mines is transported to enrichment plants where it is enriched. As a result of this process,
copper concentrate is produced, which is then supplied to the smelters. At the smelters, concentrate is smelted
and fire refined into copper anodes, which is then subjected to electrolytic refining into copper cathodes.
From these cathodes wire rod and round billets are produced. Anode slimes, which arise from the process
of copper electrorefining, is a raw material used to produce precious metals. Lead-bearing dust which is
generated from the smelting processes is used to produce lead.
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4. Business segments (continued)

Nickel sulphate and copper sulphate are recovered from the processing of used electrolyte. Gases generated
from the smelting furnaces are used to produce sulphuric acid. Economic use is also made of smelter slags,
which are sold as road-building materials.

Settlements between further stages of the production process are based on valuation at cost, and as a result
the internal organisational units (mines, processing plants, smelters) in the production cycle do not show a
profit from sales. The financial data which are prepared for management accounting purposes are based on the
same accounting principles which are used to prepare the financial statements. The body which performs
regular reviews of the internal reports for purposes of making major operational decisions is the Management
Board of the Company, as the body responsible for allocating resources and for the financial results of the
Company. The internal reports of the Company on its results are prepared on a monthly basis, and do not
contain profits/losses on the separate stages of the production process, concentrating on an analysis of costs of
their realisation.

The organisational structure of KGHM Polska Miedz S.A. includes eleven divisions: mines, ore enrichment
plants, smelters and a Head Office. The Head Office carries out marketing and sales of the Company’s basic
products - copper cathodes, round billets, wire rod and silver, the management of financial assets and
centralisation of finance and accounting services.

Production of basic products

In 2011 the Company produced approx. 571 thousand tonnes of electrolytic copper (in 2010 547 thousand
tonnes of electrolytic copper respectively) and 1 260 tonnes of silver (in 2010 1 161 tonnes of silver
respectively).

Place of production stage Production stage Products of individual stages

Lubin Mine, . Copper ore
Polkowice-Sieroszowice Mine, Ore extraction PP

Rudna Mine v

Ore enrichment (m)

—

Ore Enrichment Plant

/ \ Smelting ( Cu blister )

. (cathodes)
Legnica Smelter, Refining
( Silver ) ( Gold )

Electrolytic copper Refined lead

Gtogéw Smelter, v
Cedynia Wire Rod Plant
( Wire rod
Copper processing

Oxygen-free, .
\ / ( silver-bearing rod ) ( Round billets )

Segment assets and liabilities

Oxygen-free rod )

At
31 December 2011 31 December 2010
Assets 29 253 189 19 829 296
Liabilities 6117 678 5372 819

The main item in the segment’s assets is cash and cash equivalent, which at 31 December 2011 amounted
to PLN 12 835 999 thousand (at 31 December 2010, PLN 2 595 529 thousand), amounting to 43.88% of total
assets (detailed information may be found in note 13).
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4. Business segments (continued)

A significant item in the segment’s assets is property, plant and equipment, which at 31 December 2011 had
a net carrying amount of PLN 7 277 903 thousand (as at 31 December 2010, PLN 6 551 111 thousand),
representing 24.88% of assets. Accumulated depreciation of property, plant and equipment at 31 December
2011 amounted to PLN 7 792 664 thousand, and impairment losses amounted to PLN 4 086 thousand (as
at 31 December 2010, respectively PLN 7 383 612 thousand and PLN 6 408 thousand). The property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets of the segment are all located in Poland (detailed information may be found in
note 5).

The carrying value of inventories as at 31 December 2011 amounted to PLN 2 355 741 thousand (as at 31
December 2010 PLN 2 011 393 thousand), (detailed information may be found in note 12).

A significant item in the segment’s assets is also investments in subsidiaries measured at cost less any
impairment. As at 31 December 2011 the value of shares and investment certificates in subsidiaries amounted
to PLN 2 012 209 thousand (as at 31 December 2010, PLN 2 643 046 thousand).

No investments in associates were recognised as at 31 December 2011 (as at 31 December 2010
PLN 1 159 947 thousand).

Capital expenditures of the segment
For the period

from 1 January 2011 from 1 January 2010
to 31 December 2011 to 31 December 2010

Development 853 097 742 932
in mining 538 046 629 734

in metallurgy 97 113 81 809

in other divisions 217 938 31 389
Replacement 660 801 519 153
in mining 518 507 355 363

of which mining machinery 210 883 190 486

in metallurgy 121 291 148 970

in other divisions 21 003 14 820
Uncompleted capitalised development 4 611 646
Total 1518 509 1262 731

For purposes of making decisions on the allocation of resources, reports are prepared for managing purposes
on expenditures on tangible investments, which are presented with a breakdown by expenditures

on development and replacements.

Segment profit or loss

For the period

from 1 January 2011 from 1 January 2010
to 31 December 2011 to 31 December 2010

Sales 20 097 392 15 945 032
Interest income 182 920 62 748
Interest cost (1 245) (739)
Amortisation/depreciation (672 373) (615 468)
Revaluation of provisions for employee benefits (102 539) (29 766)
g)ftl;z:igggzaetsing costs on measurement and realisation (704 098) (1 635 888)
Income tax (2 319 077) (1 036 978)
Profit for the period 11 334 520 4 568 589
ROA* - return on assets (%) 38.7 23.0
ROE** - return on equity (%) 49.0 31.6
EBITDA (operating profit + amortisation/depreciation) 14 360 013 6 253 616
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4. Business segments (continued)

profit/loss for the period
total assets

* ROA (return on assets) = x 100

profit/loss for the period

** ROE (return on equity) = equity x 100

Geographical areas

The geographical breakdown of revenues from sales reflects the location of end clients.

For the period

Note from 1 January 2011 from 1 January 2010
to 31 December 2011 to 31 December 2010
Germany 4 268 263 3 655 801
Poland 4 109 029 3921 110
Great Britain 2 667 950 1516 183
China 2416 289 1 890 685
The Czech Republic 1190 381 1 090 468
Italy 1177 596 789 398
France 652 514 580 299
Hungary 517 076 411 799
Austria 457 198 339 843
Belgium 351 644 284 489
Switzerland 286 952 243 132
Slovakia 60 033 86 139
Other countries 1942 467 1135 686
Total 23 20 097 392 15 945 032

Main clients

In 2011 the revenues from any customer exceeded 10% of the revenues of KGHM Polska Miedz S.A. (In 2010
revenues from sales from two customers achieved 10% of the revenues of KGHM Polska Miedz S.A.

and amounted to PLN 1 716 774 thousand and PLN 1 641 879 thousand respectively).

5. Property, plant and equipment

At
31 December 2011 31 December 2010
Land 17 637 16 093
Buildings 2 666 018 2 645 282
Technical equipment and machinery 2 768 464 2 583179
Motor vehicles 65 413 55 474
Other fixed assets 15 104 14 390
Fixed assets under construction 1745 267 1236 693
Total 7 277 903 6 551 111
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5. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Change in property, plant and equipment in the period from 1 January 2011 to 31 December 2011

Note Land Buildings eql-lri:cmh;:;a;nd v::i:;s Otr;:;ef'i:)s(ed lee:nads:: e Total
machinery construction

At 1 January 2011
Gross carrying amount 16 093 6 355 195 6111776 155 341 63 087 1239 639 13941 131
Accumulated depreciation - (3709 913) (3 525 462) (99 540) (48 697) - (7 383 612)
Impairment losses - - (3 135) (327) - (2 946) (6 408)
Net carrying amount 16 093 2 645 282 2583 179 55474 14 390 1236 693 6 551 111
Changes in 2011
Settlement of fixed assets under construction 1590 219 775 686 860 20 138 5052 (933 415) -
Self-constructed - - - - - 24 132 24 132
Purchases - - - - - 1417 772 1417 772
Depreciation 24 - (154 921) (492 705) (10 203) (4 320) - (662 149)
Disposal, scrapping/decommissioning or write-off - (3 207) (9 000) - (18) - (12 225)
Sgsonn%i"lir;sei};:?#gt of provision for costs of _ (41 253) ~ R R R (41 253)
Other changes (46) 342 130 4 - 85 515
At 31 December 2011
Gross carrying amount 17 637 6 517 116 6 557 355 170 752 63 579 1748 214 15 074 653
Accumulated depreciation - (3851 098) (3788080) (105011) (48 475) - (7 792 664)
Impairment losses - - (811) (328) - (2947) (4 086)
Net carrying amount 17 637 2 666 018 2768 464 65 413 15104 1745 267 7 277 903
Change in property, plant and equipment in the period from 1 January 2010 to 31 December 2010

Note Land Buildings eaniT)cmh::'-cta;nd Mo_tor Other fixed lee:nads::ts Total

machinery vehicles assets construction

At 1 January 2010
Gross carrying amount 15990 6 136 839 5801 992 146 557 63 996 884 074 13 049 448
Accumulated depreciation - (3 631 590) (3 326 833) (97 537) (48 373) - (7 104 333)
Impairment losses - (1194) (3 135) (327) - (2 946) (7 602)
Net carrying amount 15 990 2 504 055 2472 024 48 693 15 623 881 128 5937 513
Changes in 2010
Settlement of fixed assets under construction 114 281 168 582 019 15933 2 954 (882 188) -
Self-constructed - - - - - 11 453 11 453
Purchases - - - - - 1226 025 1 226 025
Depreciation 24 - (137 494) (455 556) (8 857) (4 090) - (605 997)
Disposal, scrapping/decommissioning or write-off - (3 704) (17 019) (167) (97) - (20 987)
52?;n2i1iizs?$?#gt of provision for costs of _ (624) ~ R R R (624)
Other changes (11) 1881 1711 (128) - 275 3728
At 31 December 2010
Gross carrying amount 16 093 6 355 195 6111776 155 341 63 087 1239 639 13941 131
Accumulated depreciation (3 709 913) (3 525 462) (99 540) (48 697) - (7 383 612)
Impairment losses - (3 135) (327) - (2 946) (6 408)
Net carrying amount 16 093 2 645 282 2583179 55 474 14 390 1 236 693 6 551 111
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5. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment used in production or in providing services was recognised
as a cost of sales in the amount of PLN 643 967 thousand (for the period from 1 January to 31 December 2010,
PLN 592 410 thousand), administrative expenses in the amount of PLN 13 276 thousand (for period
from 1 January to 31 December 2010, PLN 13 587 thousand), the remaining cost of depreciation of property,
plant and equipment in the amount of PLN 4 906 thousand was settled in inventories.

KGHM Polska Miedz S.A. uses also property, plant and equipment (motor vehicles) based on a finance lease
agreement in the gross amount at 31 December 2011 of PLN 298 thousand and accumulated depreciation
of PLN 203 thousand (at 31 December 2010 the gross amount of PLN 297 thousand and accumulated
depreciation of PLN 144 thousand).

KGHM Polska Miedz S.A. as a lessor leased out the following property, plant and equipment based
on operating lease agreements

At At
31 December 2011 31 December 2010
Depreciation Accumulated Net carrying Depreciation Accumulated Net carrying
Cost . L Cost . L
for the period depreciation amount for the period depreciation amount
Land 3762 - - 3762 4 064 - - 4 064
Buildings 74 880 1827 41 540 33 340 68 412 1693 38 491 29 921
Technical equipmentand ¢ 4 255 5236 879 5213 135 4628 585
machinery
Other property, plant 719 15 638 81 694 12 657 37
and equipment
Total 85 476 2097 47 414 38 062 78 383 1 840 43 776 34 607

Amount of compensation from insurance companies, recognised in profit or loss, with respect
to property, plant and equipment for which an impairment loss was recognised

For the period

from 1 January 2011 from 1 January 2010
to 31 December 2011 to 31 December 2010

Amount of compensation recognised in profit or loss 1265 3463
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5. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Major inve